
COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 
Manzanita City Hall 
https://ci.manzanita.or.us 

AGENDA Updated 
February 4, 2026 
06:00 PM Pacific Time 

Council will hold this meeting at the Manzanita City Hall: 655 Manzanita Ave 

Video Information: The public may watch live on the  

City’s Website: ci.manzanita.or.us/broadcast 
 or by joining via Zoom: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89245725043?pwd=iEXjKenvw68bPbcCvAxOAQQMSxXQ3w.1 

Meeting ID: 892 4572 5043 Passcode: 654117 
Call in number: +1 253 215 8782   

If you would like to submit written testimony to the City Council on items included on the agenda, please 
send your comments to cityhall@ci.manzanita.or.us and indicate the agenda item and date of meeting. 

Note: Agenda item times are estimates and are subject to change 

1. CALL TO ORDER (6:00 p.m.)

2. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION
Comments must be limited to city business topics that are not on the
agenda. A topic may not be discussed if the topic record has been
closed. All remarks should be directed to the whole Council. The presiding
officer may refuse to recognize speakers, limit the time permitted for
comments, and ask groups to select a spokesperson. Comments may also
be submitted in writing before the meeting, by mail, e-mail (to
cityhall@ci.manzanita.or.us), or in person to city staff

3. CONSENT AGENDA
Consent items are not discussed during the meeting; they are approved in
one motion, and any Council member may remove an item for separate
consideration.
A. Approval of Minutes

a. January 07, 2026, Regular Session
b. January 14, 2026, Work Session



 
 

RS Agenda Page 2 of 2 
 
 

B. Approval of Bills 
 

4. INFORMATION 
 

A. City Manager Report 
Leila Aman, City Manager 
 

5. NEW BUSINESS  
 

A. Financial Audit FY 2024/2025 
Nina Crist, Finance Director  
Glen Kearns, Accuity 
 

B. Land Division Amendments Ordinance 26-01 – 1st Reading  
Public Hearing 

           Leila Aman, City Manager  
 

6. OLD BUSINESS  
 

A. State of Emergency - Update 
Leila Aman, City Manager 

 
7. COUNCIL UPDATES  

 
8. ADJOURN (7:00) 

 
 
   Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice 

The city is committed to providing equal access to public meetings. To request listening and mobility assistance 
services contact the Office of the City Recorder at least 48 hours before the meeting by email at 
cityhall@ci.manzanita.or.us or phone at 503-812-2514. Staff will do their best to respond in a timely manner and to 
accommodate requests. Most Council meetings are broadcast live on the ci.manzanita.or.us/broadcast.   



City Council Regular Session 
January 7, 2026 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

JANUARY 7, 2026 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order on January 7, 2026, at 6:00pm at the 
Manzanita City Hall by Mayor Kathryn Stock. 
 
Roll: Council members present: Kathryn Stock, Jerry Spegman, Brad Hart and Tom Campbell.  
Council members present via Zoom: Linda Kozlowski.  Staff present: City Manager Leila Aman, 
Finance Director Nina Crist, Public Works Director Rick Rempfer, Police Sergeant Mike Sims, 
Police Officer John Garcia, Police Officer Max Halverson, and Assistant City Recorder Nancy 
Jones. Staff present via Zoom: Development Services Manager Scott Gebhart. Panelist’s 
present: Steeplejack Owner Brody Day. Panelist present via Zoom: Urbsworks Marcy McInelly 
and Budget Committee Chair Joy Nord. 
 
2. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION: There were 7 people in attendance, 6 attended via zoom, 10 
attended via website. There was one public comment. 
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES –  
      a. December 03, 2025, Regular Session  
      b. December 16, 2025, Emergency Meeting 

 
B. APPROVAL OF BILLS FOR PAYMENT 

 
A motion was made by Campbell, seconded by Spegman, to approve the consent agenda that 
included approval of the December 03, 2025, Regular Session Minutes; December 16, 2025, 
Emergency Meeting; Approved payment of bills and all subsequent bills subject to approval by 
the Mayor or Council President and City Manager; Motion passed unanimously. 
 
4. INFORMATION: 
 

A.  City Manager Report - City Manager Leila Aman  
- City Manager Leila Aman announced that the city all-staff retreat/development was 
rescheduled to Monday January 12th. Offices will be closed on this day. 



City Council Regular Session 
January 7, 2026 
Page 2 of 3 

- Aman reported that Dorcas Street is under construction and the intersection has been closed. 
She articulated that construction is going well despite the weather. She said the priority is to 
complete the sections between Laneda and Dorcas, then continue the storm system towards the  
highlands.  She announced that the Classic street project should be completed and the street re-
opened in the spring.  
- Aman reported that Sergeant Mike Sims, Officer John Garcia and Officer Max Halverson 
participated in this year’s community outreach “shop with a cop” program.  She said that the 
officers spent a morning shopping with children selected by the shop with a cop committee. 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS:  
 

A. Liquor License Steeplejack  - Owner Brody Day 
Brody Day with Steeplejack spoke about his submitted liquor license application. He said that 
they have remodeled the building and plan to open a family friendly restaurant in March.  
 
A motion was made by Hart to accept the OLCC Application for Steeplejack. Seconded by 
Spegman; Motion passed unanimously. 
 

B. Emergency Declaration – City Manager Leila Aman  
City Manager Leila Aman provided background information on the Emergency Declaration that 
passed on December 16th due to the landslide potential on city property near the public works 
building.  She explained the meaning of an emergency declaration, the steps that were taken to 
notify people in the affected area and spoke about two press releases that were issued by the 
city.  She reported on the site investigation and the geotechnical engineer’s assessment of the 
slope.  She communicated that the geotechnical report identified top-soil material instability 
and stated that the underlined soil conditions are stable. She announced that the 
recommendation is to remove the unsettled material and conduct additional soil stabilization 
such as seeding with grass.  She asked council to extend the emergency declaration until 
February 4th to give the city more time to finalize the work.  
 
A motion was made by Hart to Extend Resolution 25-26 until February 4, 2026, Declaring a 
Local State of Emergency and Ratifying Actions in Response to the State of Emergency. 
Motion was Seconded by Campbell; Motion passed unanimously.  
 

C. Budget Committee Selection Process – Finance Director Nina Crist 
Finance Director Nina Crist spoke about the appointment process for the Budget Committee 
members and announced that there are two, three-year term seats set to end March 2026.  
She asked council to select one member from city council to serve on the selection committee.  
Councilor Campbell volunteered to serve on the budget committee selection committee, chair 
Joy Nord volunteered to represent the budget committee, and Finance Director Nina Crist will 
serve on the committee as the city representative.  Budget Committee chair Joy Nord presented 
the selection criteria to council.  Crist said the application will be posted next week and will be 



City Council Regular Session 
January 7, 2026 
Page 3 of 3 

open for three weeks. It is planned to present the applicant recommendations to the council on 
March 4th for approval. 
 
A motion was made by Spegman to approve the Budget Committee Selection Criteria. 
Seconded by Campbell; Motion passed unanimously. 
 
6. OLD BUSINESS:  

 
D. Housing Ordinance Amendments 2nd Reading– City Manager Leila Aman  

City Manager Leila Aman provided background and project history of ordinance 25-04 and spoke 
about the adoption of SB406 that requires cities within Tillamook County to enforce Oregon’s 
large cities’ middle housing model code.  She spoke about zoning code updates and explained 
that they were consolidated and renamed using existing boundaries.  She announced that it will 
take thirty days after the approval of the second reading for the ordinance to go into effect.  
 
Allowed for public comment: There were two public comments. 
 
A motion was made by Hart to accept the Second Reading of Ordinance 25-04 Providing for 
Zoning Standards and Procedures and Amending Ordinance No. 95-4 to Comply with Senate 
Bill 406 Middle Housing Requirements and Adopting Findings of Fact. Seconded by Kozlowski; 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
7. COUNCIL UPDATES: 
Council members took turns sharing information and updates of what they were involved in for 
the month. 
 
8. INFORMATION AND ADJOURN: 
 
-The Planning Commission has been cancelled for January 12, 2026. 
-Manzanita Municipal Court will be held January 9, 2026, at 1:30pm and is open to the public.  
 
Mayor Stock adjourned the meeting at 7:20PM. 

MINUTES APPROVED THIS 
4th Day of February, 2026 
 

 
        _____________________________ 

Kathryn Stock, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Leila Aman, City Manager 



City Council Work Session 
January 14, 2026 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

JANUARY 14, 2026 
 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order on January 14, 2026, at 2:02pm at the 
Manzanita City Hall by Council President Linda Kozlowski. 
 
ROLL: Council members present: Linda Kozlowski, Jerry Spegman, Brad Hart, and Tom Campbell. Council 
members present via Zoom: Kathryn Stock. Staff present: City Manager Leila Aman, and Assistant City Recorder 
Nancy Jones. Staff Present via Zoom: Finance Director Nina Crist, and Development Services Manager Scott 
Gebhart. Panelist present Zoom: Urbsworks Marcy McInelly. 
 
2. Land Division Amendments: City Manager Leila Aman 
City Manager Leila Aman spoke about land division amendments and reported that the planning commission 
has recommended that city council move forward with ordinance adoption.  She explained that the land 
division ordinance will complete the work on middle housing since Housing Ordinance 25-04 passed the 
second reading on January 7th.  She answered council’s questions and announced that it is planned to present 
an update to the fee schedule for middle housing land division at next month’s work session.  Aman 
communicated that the first reading of the Land Division Ordinance is scheduled for the February 4th Regular 
Session. Please email comments to be included with public record to cityhall@ci.manzanita.or.us   
 
4. Adjourn: Council President Linda Kozlowski adjourned the meeting at 2:18pm. 
  

MINUTES APPROVED THIS 
4th Day of February 2025 
 

 
        _____________________________ 

Kathryn Stock, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Leila Aman, City Manager 



VENDOR TOTAL ADMIN POLICE BLDG COURT PARKS ROADS
VISITORS 
CENTER

WATER

3J CONSULTING                                  
(CITY PLANNER)

$9,856.00 $9,856.00

ACCUITY                                
(CITY AUDITOR)

$7,000.00 $7,000.00

ADVANCED EXCAVATION                              
(EXCAVATION)

$548,838.75 $351,915.40 $196,923.35

ALEXIN ANALYTICAL                              
(TESTING SERVICE)

$730.00 $730.00

ASSOCIATED CLEANING                         
(CLEANING SERVICE)

$489.21 $489.21

BAYVIEW ASPHALT                        
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$1,356.00 $1,356.00

BOGH ELECTRIC                   
(ELECTRICAL SERVICES)

$18,612.50 $18,612.50

CARLSON TESTING                     
(GEOTECHNICAL SERVICES)

$966.75 $619.88 $346.87

CASELLE                          
(FINANCIAL SOFTWARE)

$2,916.00 $2,305.15 $610.85

CHARTER                                             
(INTERNET SERVICE)

$129.98 $129.98

CITY OF NEHALEM                                
(FINES & ASSESSMENTS)

$1,694.00 $1,694.00

CITY OF WHEELER                                
(FINES & ASSESSMENTS)

$1,157.00 $1,157.00

COAST PRINTING                              
(OFFICE SUPPLIES)

$412.95 $412.95

CORNFORTH CONSULTANTS                          
(CONSULTING SERVICES)

$10,177.50 $10,177.50

DATA CENTER                       
(WATER BILLING)

$1,032.71 $1,032.71

BILLS FOR APPROVAL OF PAYMENT 
From 1/1/26 - 1/31/26



VENDOR TOTAL ADMIN POLICE BLDG COURT PARKS ROADS
VISITORS 
CENTER

WATER

DCBS FISCAL SERVICES                                   
(BUILDING SURCHARGE)

$3,744.59 $3,744.59

ENVIRONMENTS                                 
(FURNITURE)

$7,989.56 $7,989.56

EQUIP. RENTAL SERVICES                                
(EQUIPMENT RENTAL)

$2,105.50 $2,105.50

HASCO                                        
(FUEL)

$4,581.81 $784.50 $115.96 $174.59 $872.95 $189.55 $2,444.26

LARRY BLAKE                        
(MUNICIPAL JUDGE)

$400.00 $400.00

LAURIE MILLER                      
(STAFF REIMBURSEMENT)

$31.50 $31.50

LB BUILDING SERVICES                        
(COMM. BUILDING INSPECTOR)

$8,045.42 $8,045.42

MANZANITA LUMBER                  
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$450.50 $410.59 $39.91

MILLER NASH                                   
(CITY ATTORNEY)

$30,409.00 $17,520.50 $8,264.11 $4,624.39

NEHALEM LUMBER                                
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$318.16 $75.00 $4.99 $238.17

NC CIVIL DESIGN                              
(CIVIL ENGINEER)

$16,260.00 $3,780.00 $8,002.18 $4,477.82

OLSON ASPHALT                       
(STREET SWEEPING SERVICE)

$1,150.00 $1,150.00

ONE CALL                              
(STATE LOCATE FEES)

$21.56 $21.56

ONE ELEVEN                                                
(IT SERVICES)

$4,060.00 $4,060.00

ONE ELEVEN                                                
(EQUIPMENT)

$1,928.42 $1,739.51 $86.97 $101.94

From 1/1/26 - 1/31/26
BILLS FOR APPROVAL OF PAYMENT 



VENDOR TOTAL ADMIN POLICE BLDG COURT PARKS ROADS
VISITORS 
CENTER

WATER

OR. DEPT REV                                               
(FINES & ASSESSMENTS)

$730.00 $730.00

OR. SECRETARY OF STATE                                              
(AUDIT FILING FEE)

$350.00 $350.00

OWENS PUMP & EQUIP.                                              
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$2,073.71 $2,073.71

PACIFIC ALARM SYSTEMS                                            
(ALARM SERVICE)

$437.50 $437.50

PACIFIC OFFICE                                          
(POSTAGE & COPIER)

$308.04 $271.59 $36.45

PORT OF TILLAMOOK BAY                                           
(ANNUAL EASEMENT)

$1,228.00 $1,228.00

PSI                                             
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$1,398.95 $1,398.95

PUMP TECH                                             
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$3,266.00 $3,266.00

RTI                                              
(PHONE SERVICE) $802.23 $373.03 $82.35 $346.85

SWEET SEPTIC                                          
(PORTABLE TOILETS)

$340.00 $340.00

TILL. CO. CREAMERY                                            
(MATERIALS & SUPPLIES)

$372.00 $372.00

TILL. CO. PAYABLE                                              
(FINES & ASSESSMENTS)

$224.00 $224.00

TPUD                              
(ELECTRICITY)

$4,130.91 $573.25 $113.14 $692.00 $153.68 $2,598.84

US BANK                                                   
(CITY VISA)

$5,964.26 $4,363.32 $871.39 $324.50 $87.44 $317.61

VERIZON                                                 
(TELEPHONE)

$1,325.66 $417.53 $333.52 $106.26 $468.35

VERIZON                                                 
(EQUIPMENT)

$310.00 $310.00

BILLS FOR APPROVAL OF PAYMENT 
From 1/1/26 - 1/31/26



VENDOR TOTAL ADMIN POLICE BLDG COURT PARKS ROADS
VISITORS 
CENTER

WATER

WALTER WENDOLOWSKI                                              
(CITY PLANNER)

$1,300.00 $1,300.00

TOTALS $711,426.63 $65,475.13 $2,076.38 $12,230.47 $4,205.00 $287.73 $372,959.96 $876.83 $253,315.13

BILLS FOR APPROVAL OF PAYMENT 
From 1/1/26 - 1/31/26















































































































































Page 1 of 2 – Ordinance No. 26- 

 

  City of Manzanita  
 
COUNCIL ORDINANCE No. 26-01 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MANZANITA, OREGON, AMENDING ORDINANCE 
NO. 95-5 (LAND DIVISION ORDINANCE) TO COMPLY WITH SENATE BILL 406 MIDDLE 
HOUSING REQUIREMENTS AND ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 406 requires municipalities in Tillamook County to adopt 
middle housing regulations in all zones allowing residential uses, including provisions 
for land division and expedited land division for middle housing; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed legislative public 
hearing on June 9, 2025, on the land division amendments and continued that hearing 
to a date certain of September 8, 2025, and continued the hearing to November 10, 2025, 
received public testimony, and recommended that the City Council approve the 
proposed land division amendments; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted work sessions to review the proposed land 
division amendments and directed staff to finalize the amendments and prepare an 
ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the City has met all state and local requirements necessary for 
amending the City’s land division ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a legislative hearing on February 4, 2026, and 
adopted findings supporting the amendments; 

 Now, Therefore, the City of Manzanita Does Ordain as Follows: 

Section 1. Adoption of Exhibit A. 
The City Council hereby adopts Exhibit A, attached and incorporated by reference, 
which includes the Findings of Fact and Attachment “A” establishing the amended and 
restated text of Ordinance No. 95-5 (Manzanita Land Division Ordinance). 

Section 2. Amendment and Restatement. 
Ordinance No. 95-5 is hereby amended, retitled, restated, and adopted in its entirety as 
set forth in Attachment “A” to Exhibit A. 

Section 3. Effective Date. 
These regulations shall be and are hereby declared to be in full force and effect 31 days 
from the date of passage. 

 



Page 2 of 2 – Ordinance No. 26- 

 

Read the first time on _________, and moved to second reading by _________ vote of the 
City Council.  

Read the second time and adopted by the City Council on _________.  

Signed by the Mayor on _________. 

   

  Kathryn Stock, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

    

Leila Aman, City Manager/Recorder  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments  1 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

I.  BACKGROUND 
 
A. APPLICANT: City of Manzanita. 

 
B. PROPERTY LOCATION: The application affects all property within the City with the 

potential for a land division.  
 
C. REQUEST: The City seeks to replace Ordinance 95-5, Subdivision and Land Partitioning 

Ordinance with a new document establishing regulations for property boundary 
adjustments, partitions, subdivisions, expedited land divisions, and middle housing land 
divisions. Attachment “A” contains the specific language.  
   

D. REVIEW CRITERIA: SB406, Manzanita Comprehensive Plan, Ordinance 95-4, Article 9.   
 

II.  APPLICATION SUMMARY 
 
A. Provisions in SB406 requires communities in Tillamook County to address recent state 

legislation increasing opportunities for affordable and middle housing. For the City, 
required revisions applied to the Manzanita Zoning, Ordinance 95-4 and to the Manzanita 
Subdivision and Land Partitioning, Ordinance 95-5. This Exhibit with Attachment “A” 
addresses the changes to Ordinance 95-5.  
 

B. The extent of the proposed changes effectively required the creation of an entirely new 
Land Division document, replacing the current Ordinance 95-5 in its entirety. The new 
document contains nine Articles, including provisions for expedited and middle housing 
land divisions. A summary of the new document is as follows:  

 
1. Article 1 - General Information. This Article introduces the Ordinance, identifies its 

purpose, its relationship to Ordinance 95-4, along with administration, and 
supporting definitions. Ordinance 95-5 only applies to land divisions: partitions, 
subdivisions, and property boundary adjustments; Ordinance 95-4 governs 
planned unit developments. A defined, series partition is now subject to subdivision 
regulations. Variances to the Ordinance standards requires Planning Commission 
approval and amendments to 95-5 are subject to Ordinance 95-4 procedures and 
criteria. 

 
2. Article 2 - Lots and Parcels. This Article incorporates existing Ordinance 

requirements regarding lots and parcels but expands the material to include land 
division provisions not currently found in 95-5. Lots must still meet the minimum lot 
area requirements of the underlying zone. There are now minimum requirements 
for property access, including flag lots, provisions for utility easements, preference 
for running lot lines at right angles, and prohibition on lot averaging.  

 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   2 | P a g e  
 

The Article also clarifies the relationship between Article 2 and Articles 5 (Property 
Boundary Adjustments), 6 (Partitions), 7 (Subdivisions), and 8 (Expedited Land 
Divisions) and specifically states Article 2 does not apply to Article 9 (Middle 
Housing Land Divisions).  

 
3. Article 3 - Street Standards. This is a new Article solely focusing on streets. The 

material identifies the minimum right-of-way width and improvement requirements 
and incorporates current provisions that apply to subdivisions: alignment, street 
extensions, intersection angles, half-streets, cul-de-sacs, grade/curvature, and 
marginal access streets. The street standards are consistent with the City’s 
adopted Transportation System Plan. The Article introduces new design guidelines 
for private streets and allowing the creation of a private access easement and 
shared access. Finally, language identifies the improvement requirements for new 
streets.  

 
4. Article 4 - Property Boundary Adjustments. This is a new Article governing 

adjustment of a line between lots. Currently, Ordinance 95-5 does not include 
provisions for these requests, thereby requiring the City to rely on provisions in 
ORS Chapter 92. The Article outlines the entire process to submit and record an 
approved adjustment. Adjustments are a Type I application and reviewed by staff 
(see Article 7).  

 
5. Article 5 – Partitions. The Article outlines the entire process to submit and record 

an approved partition. This is a Type II application with specific notice requirements 
(see Article 7). The language specifies the decision criteria, improvement 
requirements and procedures, and the plat recording requirements. The revised 
document incorporates most of the current regulations and clarifies the decision 
criteria. Staff reviews all partition applications with the right of appeal to the 
Commission.  
 

6. Article 6 - Subdivisions. The Article outlines the entire process to submit and record 
an approved subdivision. Like a partition, this is a Type II application with specific 
notice requirements. New language specifies the decision criteria, improvement 
requirements and procedures, and recording requirements. In addition to meeting 
the lot and parcel design standards, and street standards, there are additional 
subdivision layout requirements emphasizing neighborhood connectivity. The 
biggest change is that staff reviews an application, and not the Commission.  

 
7. Article 7 - Administration. Currently, Ordinance 95-5 divides the review 

responsibilities between the Planning Commission, and in limited cases, City staff. 
Article 7 changes those roles. The provisions follow the requirements in state law, 
in which staff review, and decide upon, all land division applications. However, the 
staff decision is appealable to the Commission, and the applicant has the option 
of bypassing staff to have the Commission review the case. There are two review 
types:  

 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   3 | P a g e  
 

a. Type I - There is no discretion with a Type I application – proposal either 
meets or does not meet the requirements – with conditions limited to ensure 
compliance with the Ordinance requirements. Only the applicant(s) receive 
notice and maintain the right to appeal the decision to the Commission.  

 
b. Type II – This type involves a notice to area property owners prior to the 

staff decision. Affected agencies, both internal and external, also receive an 
application notice. Both area owners and agencies have 14-days on which 
to submit comments. Staff prepares a report after the 14-day period ends 
and incorporates, and responds to, any submitted comments. The 
applicant, and any area owner or agency that submitted comments, receive 
a notice of the final decision and those receiving the notice have a right to 
appeal the decision to the Commission. As an option, an applicant may 
request the Commission review the Type II application instead of staff. Staff 
still creates a report, but the Commission is the final decision maker. The 
Planning Commission automatically hears all land divisions that include a 
variance to any quantitative standard (e.g., lot size), effectively reviewing 
both the land divisions and proposed variance.  

 
8. Article 8 - Expedited Land Division – This Article follows provisions in state law by 

providing a fast-track to permit the development of affordable housing. The rules  
apply only to residential development - along with any supporting open space - 
cannot incorporate protected Goal 5 resources, must meet the street standards in 
Article 3, and will either meet or exceed 80% of the underlying zone density, or 
accommodate low-income housing. The criteria limits an expedited division to the 
MH-1, MH-2, and MH-3 zones, excludes land in the Beaches and Dunes Overlay, 
and must comply with provisions in Articles 2 (Lots and Parcels) and 3 (Streets) as 
well as applicable provisions (e.g., lot size) in Ordinance 95-4. Article 8  
 

9. Article 9 - Middle Housing Land Division – This land division type applies to 
duplexes, triplexes, a fourplex, cottage cluster, courtyard apartments, and 
townhouses. It may apply to the division of existing structures or concurrently with 
a building permit for one of these types of residential uses. This is the Article that 
allows creation of the smaller housing units identified in Ordinance 95-4. Approval 
criteria are distinct for middle housing. The division, and resulting development 
must comply with applicable building codes, separate utilities are required for each 
unit, the plat must include appropriate easements for shared access, utilities or 
common areas, comply with street standards in Article 3, and cannot alter the type 
of housing on the parent lot.  

 
10. Additional Articles 8 and 9 Comments - Article 8 may apply to both partitions 

(Article 5) and subdivisions (Article 6). The process requires 21 days to determine 
completeness and 63-days to provide a final decision. Only the applicant receives 
the decision notice and retains appeal rights. In this case, the appeal is to Land 
Use Board of Appeals (LUBA). Per the legislation, an applicant has up to three 
years to file. Article 9 follows similar processing provisions.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   4 | P a g e  
 

 
Finally, in establishing the regulations City will incorporate the upcoming provisions 
in HB2138 to avoid the expense of additional Ordinance amendments. Therefore, 
Articles 8 and 9 incorporate provisions found in HB2138. 
 

C. The intent of the newly revised Ordinance is two-fold: comply with current state statute 
regarding land division administration and conform to requirements in SB406 as it applies 
to Tillamook County. Second, improve clarity and simplify the processes by establishing 
clear and objective standards for land divisions.  
 

D. The City notified the Department of Land Conservation and Development of the proposed 
revisions. The Department did not submit a response to the amendments.  
 

III.  FINDINGS – ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 
 

A. To comply with requirements in SB406, the City must amend both the Zoning Ordinance 
(95-5) and the Subdivision and Land Division Ordinance (95-5). Therefore, findings 
supporting Ordinance 95-4 are also applicable to 95-5. For the record, while Ordinance 
95-5 applies to all land divisions in the City regardless of zone, only Article 8 and Article 
9 are specific to the affordable housing and middle housing provisions, respectively in 
SB406.  
 

B. SB406 is unique to Tillamook county as it requires compliance with new housing 
requirements of SB458 (and HB2138) regardless of city population. To comply, the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development expects the cities to meet the 
provisions by adopting certain standards:  

 
1. Allowance of Middle Housing 

 
FINDINGS: With Article 8 and Article 9, the revised Ordinance establishes land 
division regulations that permit the establishment of middle housing, as well as 
providing for low-income housing, in all residential zones.  
 

2. Clear and Objective Standards 
 

FINDINGS: The standards are numerical, objective, uniformly applied, and do not 
impose more restrictive standards to develop affordable or middle housing 
projects. Further, in compliance with state law, Ordinance updates ensure all land 
division applications are administrative reviews instead of public hearings.  
 

3. Parking Compliance 
 

FINDINGS: Parking provisions mirror requirements in the recently amended 
Ordinance 95-4 which meets SB406 requirements. 
   

4. Lot Size & Dimensional Standards 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   5 | P a g e  
 

 
FINDINGS: Lot sizes mirror standards in Ordinance 95-4, including specific 
requirements for middle housing. In addition, expedited processing supports 
allowances for low-income housing opportunities.  
  

5. Middle Housing Land Divisions 
 

FINDINGS: Ordinance 95-5, Article 9 establishes the standards permitting middle 
housing land divisions consistent with SB458 and HB2138 requirements. These 
effectively implement the requirements in Ordinance 95-4. 
 

6. Affordability Considerations 
 

FINDINGS: Allowing middle housing improves housing diversity, opportunity, and 
affordability. As revised, Ordinance 95-5 establishes new land division regulations 
that specifically address middle housing (Article 9). In addition, Article 8 expedites 
land divisions specifically for those projects that address low-income housing 
needs. Conducting reviews at the administrative level further reduces 
development costs.   

 
C. The revisions address the following key Goals of the Comprehensive Plan:  

 
1. Goal 1 – Citizen Involvement 

 
FINDINGS: Consistent with current provisions for amending Ordinances, the City 
conducted work sessions and hearings before both the Planning Commission and 
City Council. The City also provided notice of the meetings in a manner consistent 
with both City requirements and State Law (Ballot Measure 56). These actions 
demonstrate compliance with Goal 1 by ensuring that citizens had timely, 
accessible, and substantive opportunities to participate in shaping the proposed 
regulations. 

 
2. Goal 2 – Land Use Planning 

 
FINDINGS: Provisions call for the “development of land so that land use is orderly, 
convenient, and suitable related to the natural environment.” Creation of middle 
housing land divisions allows for suitable residential infill, and concurrent with 
design standards in Ordinance 95-4, supports compatibility within existing 
neighborhoods. This insures wise use of available resources consistent with the 
objective of the community. The new regulations ensure implementation in a 
consistent manner, using clear and objective standards.  
 

3. Goal 10 – Housing 
 

FINDINGS: Ordinance 95-4 amendments explicitly implement the City’s housing-
related policies by increasing opportunities for a wider range of housing types 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   6 | P a g e  
 

while ensuring those housing forms fit within Manzanita’s established coastal 
character. Amendments to Ordinance 95-5 support these objectives by allowing 
for land division opportunities to create low-income housing and middle housing. 
Therefore, the revisions fulfill Goal 10’s requirement to provide for the housing 
needs of current and future residents. 

 
4. Other Plan Considerations 

 
FINDINGS: The revisions to Ordinance 95-5 are also consistent with other Plan 
goals. Additional infill development provides housing as well as job opportunities 
meeting economic needs (Goal 9). This infill also reduces energy impacts by 
encouraging a compact urban form (Goal 13). Ordinance provisions comply with 
the newly adopted City Transportation System Plan (Goal 12). The language 
prohibits expedited land divisions (Ordinance 95-5, Article 8) on land identified in 
the beaches and dunes overlay, thereby protecting the resource (Goal 18). 
 

D. Based on the analysis above, the City finds that the amendments to Ordinance 95-5 
comply with provisions in SB406, implementing SB458 and HB2138. Further, by creating 
opportunities for low-income housing and middle housing, the language is fully consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan  
 

E. Finally, the existing Ordinance 95-5 does not include a process in which to amend the 
Ordinance language. As 95-5 implements land division provisions for Ordinance 95-4, it 
appears appropriate to use the provisions in Section 9 of Ordinance 95-4. The criteria are 
as follows:  
 
1. Section 9.010 Authorization to Initiate Amendments. An amendment to the text of 

this Ordinance or to the zoning map may be initiated by the City Council, the 
Planning Commission or by application of a property owner. The request by a 
property owner for an amendment shall be accomplished by filing an application 
with the City Manager. 

 
FINDINGS: The City Council initiated the amendments to comply with the 
requirements affecting Tillamook County contained in SB406.  

 
2. Section 9.020 Public Hearings on Amendments. The Planning Commission shall 

conduct a public hearing on the proposed amendment at its earliest practicable 
meeting after the amendment is proposed and shall, within 40 days after the 
hearing, recommend to the City Council approval, disapproval, or modified 
approval of the proposed amendment. After receiving the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission, the City Council shall hold a public hearing on the proposed 
amendment, and approve, disapprove, or modify the proposed amendment. 

 
FINDINGS: This hearings before the Commission complied with the requirements 
in the Section. The Commission action is in the form of a recommendation to the 
City Council. The Council reviewed the Commission recommendation at a 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   7 | P a g e  
 

scheduled public hearing. All actions are consistent with Ordinance procedures.  
 
3. Section 9.030 Record of Amendments. The City Manager shall maintain records 

of amendments to the text and zoning map of the Ordinance. 
 

FINDINGS: If approved, this Section establishes an administrative requirement for 
the City.  

 
4. Section 9.040 Limitations on Reapplication. No application of a property owner for 

an amendment to the text of this Ordinance or to the zoning map shall be 
considered by the Planning Commission within the one-year period immediately 
following a previous denial of such request, except the Planning Commission may 
permit a new application if, in the opinion of the Planning Commission, new 
evidence or a change of circumstances warrant it. 

 
FINDINGS: This Section does not apply as the application is not by an individual 
property owner but at the request of the City Council to comply with provisions in 
SB406.  

 
5. Section 9.050 Amendments Affecting Manufactured Dwelling Parks. If an 

application would change the zone of property which includes all or part of a 
manufactured dwelling park as defined by ORS 446.003, the governing body shall 
give written notice by first class mail to each existing mailing address for tenants 
of the manufactured dwelling park at least 20 days but not more than 40 days 
before the date of the first hearing on the application. The failure of a tenant to 
receive a notice which was mailed shall not invalidate any zone change.  
 
FINDINGS: This Section does not apply as the request does not involve property 
containing a manufactured dwelling park.  

 
F. The amendments are necessary to implement provisions of SB406 which requires 

communities in Tillamook County to conform with recent state changes to housing 
regulations. Articles 8 and 9 of the document accomplish this purpose. In addition, 
changes also comply with state law by requiring staff review of land division applications. 
On balance, the changes conform to the state requirements and provide an updated 
document to assist the public and staff.  
 

IV. CONCUSION 
 
The City Council of Manzanita finds the proposed language contained in Attachment “A,” 
creating the new Ordinance 95-5, Manzanita Land Division Ordinance, complies with applicable 
provisions in SB406, applicable Goals of the City Comprehensive Plan, and the identified 
amendment criteria in Ordinance 95-4.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   8 | P a g e  
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
Ordinance 95-5 
MANZANITA LAND DIVISION ORDINANCE 
 
Articles: 
 
Article 1 General Information 
Article 2 Design Standards 
Article 3 Street Standards 
Article 4 Property Boundary Adjustments 
Article 5 Partitions 
Article 6 Subdivisions 
Article 7 Administration 
Article 8 Expedited Land Divisions  
Article 9 Middle Housing Land Divisions  
 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   9 | P a g e  
 

Article 1 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Sections: 
1.010 Ordinance.  
1.020 Purpose. 
1.030 Applicability and Relationship to Ordinance 95-4. 
1.040 Administration. 
1.050 Scope of Regulations 
1.060 Serial Partitions. 
1.070 Planned Unit Developments. 
1.080 Variances. 
1.090 Definitions. 
1.100 Fees. 
 
1.010 Ordinance.  
This Ordinance shall be known as the Manzanita Land Division Ordinance and may also be 
referred to the “Ordinance” or the “MLDO.” 
 
1.020 Purpose.  
The purpose of this Article is to establish standards and procedures for the dividing of land in 
the City. These regulations are necessary to provide uniform procedures and standards for land 
divisions, to assure adequate width and arrangements of streets, to coordinate proposed 
development with plans for utilities and other public facilities, to assure adequate sanitation and 
water supply to provide for the protection, conservation, and proper use of land, and to protect 
the public health, safety, and welfare. 
 
1.030 Applicability and Relationship to Ordinance 95-4.  
Unless otherwise exempted or specified by provisions in this Ordinance, the following shall 
apply: 
 
(A) Zones. Unless otherwise specifically prohibited by the underlying zone, land division 

regulations contained in Ordinance 95-5 shall apply to all zones listed in Ordinance 95-4.  
 

(B) Appeals. Land divisions are administrative decisions appealable to the Planning 
Commission. An appeal of the Planning Commission to the City Council is subject to 
provisions in Section 10.150 to 10.200 of Ordinance 95-4.  

 
(C) Variances. The Planning Commission shall review land divisions involving a variance, 

subject to provisions in Article 10 of Ordinance 95-4. 
 

(D) Amendments. The City shall follow the applicable procedures in Ordinance 95-5 to amend 
Ordinance 95-4.  

 
1.040 Administration.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   10 | P a g e  
 

The City Manager of the City of Manzanita shall administer this Ordinance. Unless otherwise 
specifically prohibited by Charter, the City Manager is granted the authority to delegate his/her 
duties under this Ordinance. 
 
1.050 Scope of Regulations. 
The regulations contained in this Ordinance shall govern property boundary adjustments, 
partitions, subdivisions, and replats. These shall be administrative decisions and subject to 
procedures in Article 7 – Administration. The following shall determine the appropriate process:  

 
(A) Property Line Adjustments. Property line adjustments do not divide land but adjust 

boundaries between properties or consolidate property by eliminating a boundary. These 
are subject to the provisions in Article 4 and Type I application procedures in Article 7.  

 
(B) Partition. The City shall process a land division creating two or three parcels within a 

calendar year as a Partition, subject to the general design standards in Article 2, street 
design requirements in Article 3, and improvement standards for a Partition in Article 5. 
Partitions are subject to the Type II application procedures in Article 7. 
 

(C) Subdivision. A land division creating four or more lots within a calendar year shall be 
processed as a Subdivision and subject to the general design provisions in Article 2, street 
design requirements in Article 3, and the design standards and improvement 
requirements for a Subdivision in Article 6. Subdivisions are subject to the Type II 
application procedures in Article 7. 
 

(D) Replat. A replat alters the platted lots and easements of existing subdivisions. It differs 
from a property boundary adjustment in that it reconfigures more than two lots in an 
existing subdivision plat. For this reason, this Ordinance classifies replats as subdivisions 
and subject to the provisions noted in (C) above. Replats are subject to the Type II 
application procedures in Article 7. 

 
(E) Expedited Land Divisions. Provisions in Article 8 apply to residential land divisions that 

meet minimum density requirements or provide low-income housing. Application review 
procedures for expedited land divisions are found in Article 8.  

 
(F) Middle Housing Land Divisions. Provisions in Article 9 establish requirements that 

specifically apply to the creation of duplex, triplex, quadplex, or cottage developments. 
Application review procedures for middle housing divisions are found in Article 9. 
 

(G) Application of Development Standards in Ordinance 95-4. Development standards in 
Ordinance 95-4, including compliance with overlay zone requirements, shall remain in 
force for all land divisions regulated by this Ordinance.  

 
1.060 Serial Partitions. 
If a Partition results in the creation of a large parcel that can be subsequently divided so that 
there is the potential to create more than three parcels from the original, the request is classified 
as a Subdivision and subject to provisions in 1.040(C) above.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   11 | P a g e  
 

 
1.070 Planned Unit Developments. 
A planned unit development can divide property but allow greater flexibility in such design factors 
as lot size, street width, and specific amenity requirements. Ordinance 95-4, Section 4.136 
contains the specific requirements and procedures for a Planned Unit Development.  
 
1.080 Variances. 
Any request to vary or modify the quantitative standards in Ordinance 95-5 shall be subject to 
the variance provisions outlined in Ordinance 95-4, Article 8. The Planning Commission shall 
review land divisions involving a variance. 
 
1.090 Definitions.   
As used in this Ordinance, unless it is apparent from the context that it intends a different 
meaning, the words and phrases below shall have the following meaning. Otherwise, definitions 
in Ordinance 95-4, Section 1.030 apply. 
 
Abut means to border on a given line, e.g., a given street right-of-way.  
Applicant means any person who makes application to the City for approval of a subdivision or 
partition plan. 
City means the City of Manzanita, Oregon. 
Comprehensive Plan means the City of Manzanita Comprehensive Plan. 
Cottage Cluster is a grouping of no fewer than four detached dwelling units per acre, each with 
a footprint of less than 900 square feet, located on a single lot or parcel that includes a common 
courtyard. 
Easements means a grant of the right to use a strip of land for specific purposes. 
Middle Housing means duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, cottage clusters, courtyard 
apartments, and townhouses. 
Parcel means a unit of land created by a partitioning of land. 
Partitioning means the division of an area or tract of land into two or three parcels within a 
calendar year and when such area or tract of land exists as a unit or contiguous units of land 
under single ownership at the beginning of such year. Partitioning land does not include 
division of land resulting from lien, foreclosure; divisions of land resulting from the creation of 
cemetery lots; and divisions of land made pursuant to a court order, including, but not limited to, 
court orders in proceedings involving testate or intestate successions; and partition land does 
not include any adjustment of a lot line by the relocation of a common boundary where an 
additional parcel is not created and where the existing parcel reduced in size by the adjustment 
is not reduced below the minimum lot size established by any applicable zoning requirement. 
Partitioning plat means and includes a final map and other writing containing all the 
descriptions, locations, specifications, provisions, and information concerning a partition. 
Pedestrian way means a right-of-way for pedestrian traffic. 
Planning Commission means the Planning Commission of the City of Manzanita. 
Plat means the final map, diagram, drawing, replat, and other writing containing the description, 
location, specifications, dedications, provisions, and other information concerning a subdivision, 
replat, or partition plat. 
Property line means the division line between two units of land. 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   12 | P a g e  
 

Property boundary adjustment means the relocation of a common property line between two 
abutting properties. 
Replat means the act of platting the lots, parcels, and easements in a recorded subdivision or 
partition plat to achieve a reconfiguration of the existing subdivision or partition plat or to increase 
or decrease the number of lots in the subdivision. 
Right-of-way means the area between boundary lines of a street or dedicated easement. 
Roadway means the portion or portions of a street right-of-way developed for vehicle traffic. 
Sidewalk means a pedestrian walkway with permanent surfacing. 
Street means the entire width between the boundary lines of a public way provided for vehicular 
and pedestrian traffic, and the placement of utilities and including road, highway, lane, place, 
avenue, alley, or similar designations. 
(1) Alley a street which affords a means of access to property. 
(2) Arterial means a street designed for high-volumes and regional trips. Principal arterial 

means a street carrying the highest volume of traffic of any roadway type below grade-
separated freeways and provide regional connections. 

(3) Collector means a street linking commercial, residential, industrial, and institutional 
areas, used partly by through traffic and partly for access to abutting properties. Collectors 
include Major Collectors and Minor Collectors, with major collectors generally having 
longer lengths, higher speed limits, higher traffic volumes, and more travel lanes than 
minor collectors. Major collectors offer more mobility, and minor collectors offer more 
access. 

(4) Cul-de-sac (dead-end street) means a short street with one end open to traffic and the 
other terminated by a vehicle turn-around. 

(5) Half-street means a portion of the width of a street, usually along the edge of a 
subdivision where a future subdivision or development provides the remaining portion of 
the street.  

(6)  Local street means a street intended primarily for access to abutting properties. 
(7) Marginal access street means a minor street parallel and adjacent to a major arterial 

street providing access to abutting properties but protected from through traffic. Also 
known as a frontage road. 

Subdivide land means to divide land into four or more lots within a calendar year. 
Subdivision means either an act of subdividing land of an area or a tract of land subdivided. 
Subdivision plat means and includes a final map and other writing containing all the 
descriptions, locations, specifications, dedications, provisions, and information concerning a 
subdivision.  
TSP or Transportation System Plan means the Nehalem Bay Transportation System Plan.  
 
1.100 Fees. 
 
(A) The City shall charge a fee for the review of the tentative and final plans as required by 

this Ordinance. The City Council shall establish fees by Council resolution. 
 

(B) The above-mentioned fees shall be in addition to any required State or County fees and/or 
charges.  

  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   13 | P a g e  
 

Article 2  LOTS AND PARCELS 
 
Sections: 
2.010 Relationship to other Articles 
2.020 Design Standards.  
 
2.010 Relationship to other Articles 
 
(A) Provisions in this Article apply to all property boundary adjustments (Article 5), partitions 

(Article 6), subdivisions (Article 7), and partitions and subdivisions processed as an 
Expedited Land Division (Article 8).  
 

(B) This Article shall not apply to Middle Housing Land Divisions (Article 9).  
 
2.020 Design Standards.  
The following standards shall apply to both proposed Partitions and Subdivisions.  
 
(A) Minimum Area. Minimum lot or parcel area shall conform to the requirements of the zoning 

district in which the parcel is located. Where the slope of the ground exceeds 10% in any 
direction for more than 60% of the buildable area of a lot or parcel, the area shall increase 
according to the following table: 

 
11 to 15% slope Minimum area plus 20% 
16 to 20% slope Minimum area plus 50% 
21 to 25% slope Minimum area plus 100% 
Over 25% slope Minimum area plus 200% 

 
 The City may require additional lot or parcel area as a condition to respond to specific 

topographic or geologic conditions.   
 
(B) Access. 

(1) All new residential lots or parcels shall provide a minimum of 20-feet of frontage 
on an existing or proposed public street, or 25-feet of frontage along a cul-de-sac. 
A private street or private access easement may access a residential lot or parcel 
when developed in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.020 when it is 
determined that a public street access is:  
(a) Infeasible due to parcel shape, terrain, or location of existing structures; and  
(b) Unnecessary to provide for the future development of adjoining property.  

(2) All new lots or parcels for commercial, industrial, or public uses must provide, at a 
minimum, street frontage wide enough for a driveway. Alternatively, a commercial, 
industrial, or public property may use a private street or private access easement 
when in compliance with items (a) and (b) in subsection (B)(1) above.  

 
(C) Flag Lots. A flag lot shall be subject to the following development standards:  
 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   14 | P a g e  
 

 
Figure 1 - Flag Lot Access  

 
(1) The access strip shall be a minimum of 20-feet in width. The improved surface 

shall be a minimum of 14-feet in width.  
(2) If the length of the access strip exceeds 150-feet, the parcel or lot shall include a 

turn-around area per local Fire District requirements.  
(3) The lot area calculation shall not include the access strip.  
(4) Townhouses are not permitted on a flag lot. 

 
(D) Residential Through Lots. The layout shall avoid through lots except where essential to 

provide separation of residential development from traffic arteries, adjacent non-
residential activities, or to overcome specific disadvantages of topography.  

 
(E) Lot/Parcel Side Lines. The side lines of lots, as far as practicable, shall run at right angles 

to the public street, private street, or private access easement upon which the lot or parcel 
faces.  

 
(F) Utility Easements. Where necessary to accommodate public utilities, the lot or parcel shall 

include an easement within the easement width conforming to the applicable public and/or 
private utility standards.  

 
(G) Lot Averaging. All lots must meet the minimum lot size requirements of the zone; lot 

averaging is prohibited.  
 

 
 

 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   15 | P a g e  
 

Article 3 STREET STANDARDS 
 
Sections 
3.010 Street Design Standards. 
3.020 Private Streets and Easements. 
3.030 Improvements Required.  
3.010 Street Design Standards 
 
(A) General Provisions for Public Streets. 

(1) General. The location, width, and grade of streets shall take into account existing 
and planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public convenience and safety, 
and to the proposed use of the land served by the proposed streets. Where the 
Comprehensive Plan does not show the arrangement of streets, the street system 
shall either: 
(a) Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing principal 

streets in surrounding areas; or 
(b) Conform to an adopted neighborhood plan to meet a particular situation 

where topographical or other conditions make continuance or 
conformance to existing streets impractical. 

(2) Minimum Right-of-Way and Roadway Widths. The width of streets and roadways 
shall be adequate to fulfill City Public Works specifications of this Ordinance and, 
unless otherwise indicated in the Comprehensive Plan, shall not be less than the 
minimum widths in feet shown in the following table: 

 
 

 
 

Applicability 

 
R

ight 
of 

 

 
Travel 
Lanes 

 
M

in. 
Lane 

W
idth 

 C
enter 

Turn 
Lane 

 O
n‐street 

Parking 

 
Bike 
Facility 

 
Sidew

alk 

 
Planter/ 

Buffer 
(one  

Major 
Collector 

TSP 
Figure 7  

48 
feet 

2 11 
feet 

n/a 8 ft n/a 6-8 
feet 

n/a 

Minor 
Collector 

TSP 
Figure 8 

30 
feet 

2 11 
feet 

n/a n/a 8 feet shared 
(one side) 

n/a 

Minor 
Collector 
With Parking 

TSP 
Figure 8 

32 
feet 

1 16 
feet 

n/a 8 ft 8 feet shared 
(one side) 
 

n/a 

Local 
Road 

TSP 
Figure 8 

22 
feet 

1 22 
feet 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Local with 
Parking 

TSP 
Figure 
8 

36 
feet 

1 20 
feet 

n/a 8 ft n/a n/a n/a 

 
 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   16 | P a g e  
 

(3) Alignment. As far as practical, streets other than minor streets shall align with 
existing streets by continuations of the center lines. Staggered street alignment 
resulting in “T” intersections shall, wherever practical, leave a minimum distance 
of 200-feet between the center lines of streets having the same direction and shall 
not be less than 125-feet.  

(4) Future Extension of Streets. Where necessary to give access to or permit a 
satisfactory future subdivision of adjoining land, the street layout shall extend 
streets to the boundary of the subdivision. In addition, the City may approve a 
resulting dead-end street without a turn-around.  

(5) Intersection Angles.  
(a) Street intersection angles shall be as near to right angles as practical except 

where topography requires a lesser angle, but in no case shall the acute 
angle be less than 60 degrees unless there is a special intersection design 
approved by Public Works.  

(b) The intersection of an arterial or collector street with another street shall 
have at least 100-foot tangent adjacent to the intersection unless 
topography requires a lesser distance.  

(c) Other streets, except alleys, shall have at least 50-foot tangent adjacent to 
the intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance.  

(d) Intersections which contain an acute angle of less than 80 degrees, or which 
include an arterial street shall have a minimum corner radius sufficient to 
allow for a roadway radius of 20-feet and maintain a uniform width between 
the roadway and the right-of-way line. 

(6) Existing Streets. Whenever existing streets adjacent to, or within a tract, are 
inadequate width, the proposed development shall provide additional right-of-way 
where feasible. 

(7) Half-Streets. The development may include half-streets where essential to the 
reasonable development of the subdivision, when in conformity with the other 
requirements of these regulations, and when the City finds it will be practical to 
require the dedication of the other half when development occurs on the adjoining 
property.  

(8) Cul-de-Sacs. The use of cul-de-sacs is permitted only where no other design 
alternative exists. When allowed, a cul-de-sac shall have a maximum length of 
400-feet, serve no more than 18-dwelling units, and shall terminate with a turn-
around. 

(9) Street Names. Except for extensions of existing streets, a proposed street name 
shall not duplicate or be confused with the names of existing streets. Street names 
and numbers shall conform to the established pattern in the City.  

(10) Grades and Curves.  
(a) Grades shall not exceed six percent on arterials, 10% on collector streets, 

or 12% on any other street.  
(b) Center line radii of curves shall not be less than 300-feet on major arterials, 

200-feet on secondary arterials, or 100-feet on other streets, and shall be 
to an even 10-feet.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   17 | P a g e  
 

(c) Where existing conditions, particularly topography, make it otherwise 
impractical to provide buildable lots, the City may accept steeper grades 
and sharper curves. 

(11) Marginal Access Streets. Where a subdivision abuts or contains an existing or 
proposed arterial street, the City may require marginal access streets, reverse 
frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting contained in a nonaccess 
reservation along the rear or side property line, or other treatment necessary for 
adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through 
and local traffic.  

 
(B) Construction Specifications. Construction specifications for all public streets shall comply 

with the standards of the most recently adopted public works/street standards of the City 
of Manzanita.  

 
3.020 Private Streets, Private Easements and Shared Driveway Access. 

 
(A) Private Streets.  

(1) A private street may serve no more than six, lots or parcels. These standards shall 
also apply if at least three, and no more than six, parcels may be created through 
a series of separate partitions.  

(2) Construction Standards. Private streets shall be subject to the following 
construction standards: 
(a) Width. Private streets shall have a minimum easement width of 25-feet and 

a minimum paved surface width of 20-feet. Paving shall be either asphalt or 
concrete.  

(b) Construction Standards. All private streets shall be constructed to the same 
cross-sectional specifications required for public streets and shall include 
provisions for adequate drainage in conformance with Public Works 
Standards. 

(c) On-Street Parking. Private streets shall provide one on-street parking space 
per lot or parcel. The parking spaces may be located along the private 
street, designed as a “parking pocket,” or a combination of both. The 
provision for on-street parking may require a wider private street easement. 

(d) Public Dedication. Any private street designed, or has the potential capacity, 
as a collector or an arterial street shall be dedicated as a public right-of-
way.  

(e) Private streets shall be named in conformance with the street name and 
numbering pattern established in the City.  

(3) Private streets shall not connect two existing public streets. Such a connection 
shall require the dedication of a public street. 

(4) Provision for the maintenance of a private street shall require a maintenance 
agreement, homeowner’s association, or similar instruments acceptable to the 
City. The applicable document shall be recorded against the deed record of each 
lot or parcel, and if appropriate, placed on the final plat. 

(5) A private street, which is the sole access, shall include a turn-around when the 
street is either more than 150-feet in length or which serves more than two 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   18 | P a g e  
 

dwellings. Turn-arounds shall comply with the design provisions of the local Fire 
District.  

 
(B) Private Access Easement. A private access easement created as the result of an 

approved land division shall conform to the following: 
(1) No more than two lots or parcels shall have their sole access to the easement. 

Easements serving more than two lots or parcels shall comply with provisions for 
a private street in (A), above. 

(2) The minimum easement width shall be 20-feet with a minimum paved width of 16-
feet.  

(3) The surface width noted in item (2) above shall be improved with either asphalt or 
concrete for the entire length of the access easement.  

(4) A private access easement, which is the sole access, shall include a turn-around 
when the easement exceeds 150-feet in length or serves more than one lot or 
parcel. Turn-arounds shall comply with the design provisions of the Fire District. In 
no case shall the easement length exceed 200-feet. 

(5) All private access easements shall be designated fire lanes and signed for "no 
parking." 

(6) Provision for the maintenance of an improved private access easement shall be 
provided in the form of a maintenance agreement, homeowner’s association, or 
similar instrument acceptable to the City. The applicable document shall be 
recorded against the deed record of each parcel, and if appropriate, placed on the 
final partitioning plat. 

 
(C) Shared Driveway Access. Two adjacent lots or parcels fronting a public or private street 

may share a single driveway access, subject to the following:  
(1) The minimum easement width shall be 18-feet with a minimum paved width of 12-

feet. The minimum length shall be 20-feet.  
(2) The surface width noted in item (1) above shall be improved with either asphalt or 

concrete for the entire length of the shared access easement.  
(3) Provision for the maintenance of the shared driveway access shall be provided in 

the form of a maintenance agreement, homeowner’s association, or similar 
instrument acceptable to the City. The applicable document shall be recorded 
against the deed record of each lot or parcel, and if appropriate, placed on the final 
plat. 
 

(D) Lots and Parcels Served by Private Streets or Easements. The following shall apply to all 
lots and parcels that are accessed by either a private street or private access easement: 
(1) Lot and Parcel Size. The easement containing the private street or access 

easement shall be excluded from the lot or parcel size calculation. 
(2) Setbacks. The line fronting along a private street or access easement shall be 

considered a property line with all subsequent setbacks measured from this 
easement line.  

(3) Lot Depth and Width. Where required by the underlying zone, the lot width shall 
be measured along the easement boundary, and the lot depth shall be measured 
from the easement boundary to the rear lot line. 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   19 | P a g e  
 

3.030 Improvements Required 
 
(A) Generally. Except as otherwise provided, land divisions subject to this Ordinance 

containing, or abutting, an existing or proposed street, that is either unimproved or 
substandard in right‐of‐way width or improvement, shall dedicate the necessary right-of-
way on the final plat, or prior to the issuance of building permits.  Right‐of‐way 
requirements are based on functional classification of the street network as established 
in the Transportation System Plan. 
 

(B) Existing Streets. Except as otherwise provided, when a development abuts an existing 
street, the improvements requirement shall apply to that portion of the street right‐of‐way 
located between the centerline of the right‐of‐way and the property line of the lot 
proposed for development. In no event shall a required street improvement for an 
existing street exceed a pavement width of 30-feet. 

 
(C) Proposed Streets 

(1) Except as otherwise provided, when a development includes or abuts a 
proposed street, in no event shall the required street improvement exceed a 
pavement width of forty (40) feet. 

(2) Half Streets: When a half street is created, a minimum of 22 feet of driving 
surface shall be provided by the developer. 
 

(D) Extent of Improvements 
(1) Streets required pursuant to this Chapter shall be dedicated and improved in 

compliance with the Transportation System Plan and applicable City specifications 
included in the City of Manzanita Ordinance 91‐2 Creating Street Improvement 
Standards. Improvements shall also include any bikeways designated on the 
Transportation System Plan map. An applicant may be required to dedicate land 
for required public improvements only when the exaction is directly related to and 
roughly proportional to the impact of the development. 

(2) If the applicant is required to provide street improvements, the City Manager may 
accept future improvements guarantee in lieu of street improvements if one or 
more of the following conditions exist, as determined by the City: 
(a) A partial improvement is not feasible due to the inability to achieve proper 

design standards; 
(b) A partial improvement may create a potential safety hazard to motorists or 

pedestrians. 
(c) Due to the nature of existing development on adjacent properties it is 

unlikely that street improvements would extend in the foreseeable future 
and the improvement associated with the project under review does not, by 
itself, provide a significant improvement to street safety or capacity; 

(d) The improvement would conflict with an adopted capital improvement plan; 
(e) The improvement is associated with an approved land partition on property 

zoned residential use and the proposed land partition does not create any 
new streets; or 

(f) Additional planning work is required to define the appropriate design 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   20 | P a g e  
 

standards for the street, and the application is for a project that would 
contribute only a minor portion of the anticipated future traffic on the street. 
 

(E) Transportation Facilities Modifications 
(1) A modification to a standard contained within this Article and the standard cross 

sections contained in Chapter 3 of the adopted TSP may be granted in accordance 
with the procedures and criteria set out in this section. 

(2) A modification request concerns a deviation from the general design standards for 
public facilities, in this Article or Chapter 3 in the adopted Transportation System 
Plan. The standards that may be modified include but are not limited to: 
(a) Reduced sight distances. 
(b) Vertical alignment. 
(c) Horizontal alignment. 
(d) Geometric design (length, width, bulb radius, etc.). 
(e) Design speed. 
(f) Crossroads. 
(g) Access policy. 
(h) A proposed alternative design which provides a plan superior to these 

standards. 
(i) Low impact development 
(j) Access Management Plans 

 
(F) Modification Procedure 

(1) A modification must be proposed with the application for land use approval. 
(2) A modification is a Type II application and processed in conjunction with the 

underlying development proposal. 
 

(G) Criteria for Modification. Modifications may be granted for street improvements when any 
one of criteria are met: 
(1) Consideration shall be given to public safety, durability, cost of maintenance, 

function, appearance, and other appropriate factors to advance the goals of the 
adopted Manzanita Comprehensive Plan and Transportation System Plan as a 
whole. Any modification shall be the minimum necessary to alleviate the hardship 
or disproportional impact. 

(2) Topography, right‐of‐way, existing construction or physical conditions, or other 
geographic conditions impose an unusual hardship on the applicant, and an 
equivalent alternative which can accomplish the same design purpose is available. 

(3) A minor change to a specification or standard is required to address a specific 
design or construction problem which, if not enacted, will result in an unusual 
hardship. Self‐ imposed hardships shall not be used as a reason to grant a 
modification request. 

(4) An alternative design is proposed which will provide a plan equal to or superior to 
the  existing street standards. 

(5) Application of the standards of this chapter to the development would not be 
roughly proportional to the impacts created by the development.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   21 | P a g e  
 

Article 4 PROPERTY BOUNDARY ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Sections: 
4.010 Adjustments Provisions. 
 
4.010 Adjustment Provisions. 
 
(A) Purpose. A property boundary adjustment is a change to a property boundary that only 

modifies existing lots or parcels and does not create a new lot or parcel. A property 
boundary adjustment is also the elimination of a property boundary line that converts two 
properties into one.  

 
(B) Review Process. A property boundary adjustment is subject to review and decision by 

City staff as a Type I application (Section 7.010).  
 

(C) Submittal Requirements. The applicant(s) must submit the following information and 
material: 
(1) Applications for a property boundary adjustment shall be submitted on forms 

provided by the City and accompanied by the appropriate fee. The owners of all 
property affected by the request must sign the application:  

(2) The application shall include the following information:  
(a) Copies of the officially recorded Ordinance transfer instrument (deed, 

warranty deed, or contract) that shows the legal description for the affected 
parcels. 

(b) Copies of the County Assessor’s maps for both properties. 
(c) A written statement explaining the purpose for the property boundary 

adjustment and demonstrating that the request conforms to City land use 
regulations of the applicable zone, such as lot size and setbacks for existing 
buildings. 

(d) The applicant(s) shall certify in writing that the application does not violate 
any deed restrictions attached to, or imposed upon, the subject properties.  
 

(D) Review Criteria. Approval or denial of a property boundary adjustment shall be based on 
the following criteria: 
(1) A property boundary adjustment cannot create a parcel; creation of a parcel 

requires approval of a land division. 
(2) Following the property boundary adjustment, all lots or parcels must comply with 

lot size and dimensional standards of the applicable land use district. For 
nonconforming lots, the adjustment shall not increase the degree of 
nonconformance of the subject property. 

(3) The adjustment shall not result in a setback violation for existing structures. 
 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   22 | P a g e  
 

(E) Completion of a Property Boundary Adjustment. After approval of a property boundary 
adjustment, the new boundary becomes effective only after completion of the following 
steps: 
(1) Recording of the metes and bounds legal descriptions of the adjusted properties 

with the Tillamook County Clerk. 
(2) If required by ORS Chapter 92, the applicant(s) shall prepare a final map (or plat) 

and boundary survey, with all new boundaries monumented as required by ORS 
Chapters 92 and 209. The applicant(s) shall submit the prepared document to the 
City for approval and signature prior to recording the document in the County 
Clerk’s office and shall return a copy of the recorded document to the City.  

 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   23 | P a g e  
 

Article 5 PARTITIONS 
 
Sections 
5.010 Application and Review. 
5.020 Improvement Requirements and Final Plat. 
 
5.010 Application and Review. 
 
(A) Purpose. A partition is a land division that creates two or three parcels within a calendar 

year.  
 

(B) Review Process. A partition is subject to review and decision by City staff as a Type II 
application (Section 7.020).  

 
(C) Submittal Requirements. The following provisions shall apply to the submittal of a partition 

application: 
(1) Application Process. Applications for partitions shall be submitted on forms 

provided by the City and accompanied by the appropriate fee. It shall be the 
applicant’s responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses the 
review criteria of this Article. 

(2) Submittal Requirements. Each application shall be accompanied by a preliminary 
partition plat drawn to a scale acceptable to the City Development Services 
Department and containing at a minimum, the following: 
(a) Appropriate identification stating the drawing is a preliminary plan. 
(b) North point, scale, and date. 
(c) Name and addresses of landowner, applicant, engineer, surveyor, planner, 

architect, or other individuals responsible for the plan. 
(d) Map number and tax lot or tax account number of the subject property. 
(e) The boundary lines and approximate area of the subject property. 
(f) Dimensions and size in square feet of all proposed parcels. 
(g) The approximate location of existing streets, easements, or rights-of-way 

adjacent to, or within, the subject property, and existing improvements on 
the property.  

(h) Areas containing wetlands, significant vegetation, ponds, creeks, and other 
natural features. 

(3) The City Manager may waive some of the requirements in item (2) above, provided 
there is sufficient information to process the application.  

 
(D) Decision Criteria. Approval of a partitioning shall require compliance with the following: 

(1) Each parcel shall satisfy the dimensional standards of applicable zone unless the 
Planning Commission approves a variance to the standards.  

(2) Each parcel shall meet the general design standards of Article 2.  
(3) The partition shall not reduce setbacks for existing structures unless the Planning 

Commission approves a variance from these standards.  
(4) Adequate public facilities shall be available to serve the existing and newly created 

parcels.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   24 | P a g e  
 

 
5.020 Improvement Requirements and Final Plat. 
 
(A) Improvement Requirements. During the review of Partition proposals, the City shall 

require, as a condition of approval, the following improvements:  
(1) Street Improvements.  

(a) Consistent with the adopted transportation plans, the final plat shall 
dedicate sufficient land establishing the appropriate right-of-way width.  

(b) Improvement requirements shall comply with provisions in MLDO Section 
3.030.  

(2) Public Facilities. Necessary public facilities – water, sanitary sewer, storm lines - 
shall extend to the property and available for connection.  

(3) Connection Fees. In the circumstance where existing improved streets, sanitary 
sewer, water, and/or storm lines are adjacent to or within the project, a connection 
charge is required in accordance with the City's adopted Connection Charges 
ordinance.  

(4) Completion Requirements. All required improvements shall be completed prior to 
recording the final partition plat and the issuance of any building permits for the 
subject property. Alternatively, improvements required under this Section may be 
assured through a performance bond or other instrument acceptable to the City 
prior to the approval of the final plat of the Partition.  

 
(B) Improvement Procedures. In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by a 

developer shall conform to the requirements of this Article and improvement standards 
and specifications adopted by the City or affected public agency. Improvements shall be 
installed in accordance with the following procedure: 
(1) Plan Review. Improvement work shall not commence until plans are checked for 

adequacy and approved by the City Engineer. Plans shall be prepared in 
accordance with requirements of the City Public Works Department. 

(2) Notification. Improvement work shall not commence until the City Public Works 
Department has been notified in advance; and, if work has been discontinued for 
any reason, it shall not be resumed until the City Public Works Department has 
been notified. 

(3) Inspection. Improvements shall be constructed under the inspection and to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of Public Works. The City 
Engineer or Public Works Department may require changes in typical sections and 
details in the public interest, if unusual conditions arise during construction to 
warrant the change. 

(4) Underground Facilities. All underground utilities, sanitary sewers, and storm drains 
installed in streets by the developer shall be constructed prior to the surfacing of 
the streets. Stubs for service connections for underground utilities and sanitary 
sewers shall be placed to a length eliminating the necessity for disturbing the street 
improvements when service connections are made. 

(5) Final Engineering Plans. Upon completion of the public improvements and prior to 
final acceptance of the improvements by the City Engineer, the developer shall 
provide certified as-built drawings of all public utility improvements to the City 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   25 | P a g e  
 

Public Works Department. The as-built drawings shall be submitted to the City 
Engineer by the developer’s engineer.  

(6) Sanitary Sewer Exception. Procedures (1) to (5) above shall apply to the 
installation of sanitary sewer service except that Nehalem Bay Wastewater Agency 
is the reviewing agency.  

 
(C) Process for Final Plat Approval. The following provisions shall apply to the approval of 

any final partitioning plat: 
(1) Survey. Within two years of the final decision approving a preliminary plat, the 

applicant shall record the final survey of the approved plat. The preliminary 
approval shall lapse if not recorded within two years.  

(2) Final Approval. If the partition plat is consistent with the approved preliminary plat, 
and if the conditions of approval have been satisfied, the City Manager or designee 
shall sign the final plat. 

(3) Recording of Approved Plat. No building permit shall be issued, or parcel sold, 
transferred, or assigned until the recording of the final approved plat with the 
County Recorder and returning a copy of the record plat to the City. The applicant 
shall be responsible for all recording fees. 

 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   26 | P a g e  
 

Article 6 SUBDIVISIONS 
 
Sections: 
6.010 Application and Review Process. 
6.020 Subdivision Design Requirements.  
6.030 Improvement Requirements and Final Plat.  
 
6.010 Application and Review Process. 
 
(A) Purpose. A subdivision is the process of dividing land into four or more lots within a 

calendar year.  
 

(B) Review Process. A subdivision is subject to review and decision by City staff as a Type II 
application (Section 7.020).  
 

(C) Submittal Requirements. The following submittal requirements shall apply to all 
preliminary plan applications for subdivisions and planned unit developments. 
(1) All applications shall be submitted on forms provided by the City along with the 

appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant’s responsibility to submit a complete 
application that addresses the review criteria of this Article. 

(2) Submittal Requirements. Each application shall be accompanied by a preliminary 
plat drawn to a scale acceptable to the City Development Services Department 
and containing at a minimum, the following: 
(a) Appropriate identification stating the drawing is a preliminary plan. 
(b) Proposed name of the subdivision. 
(c) North point, scale, and date. 
(d) Vicinity sketch showing location of the proposed land division. 
(e) Name and addresses of landowner, applicant, engineer, surveyor, planner, 

architect, or other individuals responsible for the plan. 
(f) Map number and tax lot or tax account number of subject properties. 
(g) The boundary lines and approximate area of the subject property along with 

gross acreage. 
(h) The approximate location of existing streets, easements, or rights-of-way 

adjacent to, or within, the subject property, and existing improvements on 
the property.  

(i) Contour lines at two-foot intervals if 10% slope or less, five-foot intervals if 
exceeding 10% slope, and a statement of the source of contour information. 

(j) Dimensions and size in square feet of all proposed lots. 
(k) Identification of each lot by number. 
(l) Preliminary information on connection location to existing water, sanitary 

sewer, and storm water facilities. 
(m) Direction of drainage and approximate grade of abutting streets. 
(n) Streets proposed and their names, approximate grade, and radius of 

curves. 
(o) Any other legal access to the subdivision other than a public street. 
(p) All areas offered for public dedication. 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   27 | P a g e  
 

(q) Areas containing wetlands, significant vegetation, ponds, creeks, and other 
natural features. 

 
(D) Subdivision Review Criteria. Approval of a subdivision shall require compliance with the 

following: 
(1) Each lot shall satisfy the dimensional standards and density standard of the 

applicable zoning district, unless the Planning Commission approves a variance 
from these standards.  

(2) Adequate public facilities shall be available to serve the existing and newly created 
lots.  

(3) The proposed subdivision complies with the design and layout standards in 
Section 6.020.  

 
(E) Phased Development.  

(1) Schedule. The City may approve a time schedule for developing a subdivision in 
phases, but in no case shall the actual construction time for any phase be greater 
than two years without reapplying for a tentative plat, and all phases of the 
subdivision shall be platted within 10 years of the original date of the final decision.  

(2) Criteria. The criteria for approving a phased subdivision (in addition to all standard 
subdivision criteria) review proposal are:  
(a) The public facilities shall be constructed in conjunction with or prior to each 

phase to ensure provision of public facilities prior to building occupancy;  
(b) The development and occupancy of any phase shall not be dependent on 

the use of temporary public facilities.  
(i) For purposes of this subsection, a temporary public facility is an 

interim facility not constructed to the applicable City or public agency 
standard; and  

(ii) The phased development shall not result in requiring the City or other 
property owners to construct public facilities as a part of the approval 
of the preliminary plat.  

 
6.020 Subdivision Design Requirements.  

 
(A) All lots shall comply with applicable design standards in Article 2. 

 
(B) In addition, the subdivision shall comply with the following layout design standards, where 

applicable. 
(1) General. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall provide adequate building 

sites for the use contemplated, consideration of needs for convenient access, 
circulation, control, and safety of street traffic - including pedestrian and bicyclist - 
and recognition of limitations and opportunities of topography. 

(2) Street. The street system shall comply with applicable public and private street 
standards in Article 3, including required improvements.  

(3) Block length and access spacing. Proposed block length and access spacing shall 
extend the existing grid pattern where present. Otherwise, a new development 
shall comply with the following: 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   28 | P a g e  
 

 
Functional 
Class 

Maximum 
Block Length 

Minimum Block 
Length and 
Width* 

Minimum 
Driveway 
Spacing 

Minimum 
Intersection Set 
Back 

Arterial 800 feet 100 feet 100 feet 150 feet 
Collector 500 feet 100 feet 75 feet 75 feet 
Residential 500 feet 100 feet None 25 feet 

 
  *The maximum block width shall be 250-feet. 
 

(4) Access and Spacing for Highway 101. Access and road spacing standards for 
Highway 101 within the City and arterials shall conform to the current Oregon 
Highway Plan (OHP) access management spacing standards for highways, as 
indicated below. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(5) Traffic Circulation. The subdivision layout shall provide safe, convenient, and direct 
vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrian access to nearby residential areas, 
neighborhood activity centers (e.g., schools and parks), shopping areas, and 
employment centers. At a minimum, “nearby” means the distance from the 
subdivision boundary – quarter mile for pedestrians and one mile for bicyclists. 

(6) Connectivity. The City shall require the following: 
(a) Stub-End Streets: Where the potential exists for additional residential 

development on adjacent property. (See Figure 2). 
(b) Accessways: Public accessways to provide a safe, efficient, and direct 

connection to cul-de-sac streets, to pass through oddly shaped, or blocks 
longer than 600-feet, to provide for public paths accessing nearby 
residential areas, neighborhood activity centers (e.g., parks, schools), 
shopping areas, and employment centers. (See Figure 2). 

 

 
Figure 2 - Connectivity  

Roadway Speed Limit Access & Road 
Spacing Standard 
(urban) 

U.S. 101 55 or higher 1,320 feet 
50 1,100 feet 
40 & 45 800 feet 
30 & 35 500 feet 
25 & lower 350 feet 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   29 | P a g e  
 

 
(7) Design Standards for Accessways. Pedestrian/bicycle accessways at the ends of 

cul-de-sacs shall meet the following design standards:  
(a) Minimum dedicated width: 10-feet  
(b) Minimum improved width: 8-feet  
(c) The accessway shall be designed to prohibit vehicle traffic.  

(8) Collector and Arterial Connections. Accessway, bikeway, or sidewalk connections 
with adjoining arterial and collector streets shall be provided if any portion of the 
site’s arterial or collector street frontage is over 600-feet from either a subdivision 
access street or other accessway. The accessway placement may be modified or 
eliminated if natural features (e.g., adverse topography, streams, wetlands) 
preclude such a connection. 

 
6.030 Improvement Requirements and Final Plat.  
 
(A) Improvements and Bonding. Before the City certifies approval of the final plat, the 

subdivider shall either install required improvements and repair existing streets and other 
public facilities damaged in the development of the subdivision; or execute and file with 
the City an agreement between specifying the period for the completion of the required 
improvements and repairs. 
(1) Bonding. The subdivider shall file a financial instrument with the agreement to 

assure installation of the necessary improvements. The agreement shall provide 
that if the work is not completed within the specified period, the City may complete 
the work and recover the full cost and expense thereof from the subdivider. The 
agreement may provide for the construction of the improvements in units and for 
an extension of time under specified conditions. The amount shall be a sum 
determined by the City Engineer as sufficient to cover the cost of the improvements 
and repairs, including related City expenses. The financial instrument may include 
one of the following: 
(a) A surety bond executed by a surety company authorized to transact 

business in the state of Oregon on a form approved by the City Attorney. 
(b) A personal bond cosigned by at least one additional person, together with 

evidence of financial responsibility and resources of those signing the bond 
sufficient to provide reasonable assurance of ability to proceed in 
accordance with the agreement. 

(c) Cash. 
(2) Liability. If the subdivider fails to comply with provisions of the agreement, and the 

City has unreimbursed costs or expenses resulting from such failure, the City shall 
call on the bond or cash deposit for reimbursement. If the amount of the bond or 
cash deposit exceeds the cost and expenses incurred by the City, the City shall 
release the remainder. If the amount of the bond or cash deposit is less than the 
cost and expense incurred by the City, the subdivider shall be liable to the City for 
the difference.  
 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   30 | P a g e  
 

(B) Improvement Requirements. The following improvements shall apply:   
(1) Frontage Improvements. The City shall require half-street improvements designed 

to match the City's Engineering Standards for all public streets on which a 
proposed subdivision fronts. Improvements shall include sidewalks, curbing, storm 
sewer, sanitary sewer, water lines, and such other improvements necessary to 
serve the development or the immediate neighborhood.  

(2) Project Streets. Public or private streets within the subdivision shall comply with 
City Engineering Standards.  

(3) Water System. The subdivision shall install water lines with valves and fire 
hydrants serving the subdivision and connecting to the City mains in conformance 
with the Engineering Design Standards. The design shall consider provisions for 
extension beyond the subdivision to adequately grid the City system and to serve 
the area within which the development is located when the area is fully developed. 
However, the City will not expect the developer to pay for the extra cost of mains 
exceeding eight inches in size.  

(4) Surface Drainage and Storm Sewer System. The subdivision shall include 
drainage facilities within the subdivision and connect to drainageways or to storm 
sewers outside the subdivision. Design of drainage within the Subdivision shall be 
constructed in accordance with the Engineering Design Standards.  

(5) Sanitary Sewers. The Subdivision shall include sanitary sewer serving the 
Subdivision and connecting to existing mains both on and off the property being 
subdivided conforming to applicable design standards of the Nehalem Bay 
Wastewater Agency. The Agency may require that the developer construct sewage 
lines of a size exceeding that necessary to adequately service the development in 
question, where such facilities are or will be necessary to serve the entire area 
within which the development is located when the area is fully developed.  

(6) Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be installed along both sides of each public street and 
in any pedestrian walkway within the subdivision. This improvement may be 
deferred until prior to the occupancy of a dwelling.  

(7) Streetlights. The installation of streetlights at required locations and complying with 
City standards.  

(8) Street Signs. The installation of street name signs and traffic control signs is 
required at locations determined to be appropriate by the City and shall comply 
with City standards.  

(9) Curb Cuts. Curb cut and driveway installations are not required at the time of 
development, but if installed, it shall be according to the City standards.  

(10) Completion of Improvements. Prior to proceeding with the final plat review in item 
(E), all improvements required under this Article shall be completed to City 
standards or assured through a performance bond or other instrument acceptable 
to the City Attorney, prior to the approval of the Final Plat of the Subdivision.  

 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   31 | P a g e  
 

(C) Improvement Procedures. In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by a 
developer shall conform to the requirements of this Article and improvement standards 
and specifications adopted by the City, and shall be installed in accordance with the 
following procedure: 
(1) Plan Review. Improvement work shall not commence until plans have been 

checked for adequacy and approved by the City Engineer. Plans shall be prepared 
in accordance with requirements of the City Public Works Department. 

(2) Notification. Improvement work shall not commence until the City Public Works 
Department has been notified in advance; and, if work has been discontinued for 
any reason, it shall not be resumed until the City Public Works Department has 
been notified. 

(3) Inspection. Improvements shall be constructed under the inspection and to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of Public Works. The City 
Engineer or Public Works Department may require changes in typical sections and 
details in the public interest, if unusual conditions arise during construction to 
warrant the change. 

(4) Underground Facilities. All underground utilities, sanitary sewers, and storm drains 
installed in streets by the developer shall be constructed prior to the surfacing of 
the streets. Stubs for service connections for underground utilities and sanitary 
sewers shall be placed to a length eliminating the necessity for disturbing the street 
improvements when service connections are made. 

(5) Final Engineering Plans. Upon completion of the public improvements and prior to 
final acceptance of the improvements by the City Engineer, the developer shall 
provide certified as-built drawings of all public utility improvements to the City 
Public Works Department. The as-built drawings shall be submitted to the City 
Engineer by the developer’s engineer.  

(6) Sanitary Sewer Exception. Procedures (1) to (5) above shall apply to the 
installation of sanitary sewer service except that the Nehalem Bay Wastewater 
Agency is the reviewing agency.  

 
(D) Form of Final Subdivision. 

(1) Final Plat Requirements. The final plat shall be prepared in a form and with 
information consistent with ORS 92.010 through 92.160 and approved by the 
County Surveyor. 

(2) Owners Association. Where applicable, the City Attorney shall review all owners’ 
agreements, articles, and by-laws concurrently with the final plat. 
(a) The City shall not approve the final plat, until the City Attorney approves the 

owner’s association agreement, articles, and by-laws. 
(b) A certificate of formation of a non-profit corporation, with a state seal, for 

the owner’s association, shall be submitted with the final plat. 
(c) Signed, original documents of the owner’s association agreement, articles 

and by-laws and the certificate of formation described in subsection (B)(3) 
above, shall be recorded with the final plat. 

(3) Subdivision Names. All plat names shall conform to ORS 92.090 and be approved 
by the County Surveyor.  

 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   32 | P a g e  
 

(E) Final Plat Review of Subdivisions. 
(1) Final Plat Review. If the City Engineer determines that the final plat conforms fully 

with all applicable regulations and standards, the City Engineer shall advise the 
City Manager. The City Manager shall sign the plat.  

(2) Filing the Final Plat. The final subdivision plat shall be filed with the Tillamook 
County Clerk’s Office, and a copy of the final recorded document shall be returned 
to the City Recorder. 

(3) Time Limit. Approval of any preliminary plans for a subdivision shall be valid for 
two years after the date of the final decision. A Final Plat shall be recorded within 
this period, or the approval shall lapse.  

(4) Time Extension. The City may extend the approval period for any subdivision for 
not more than one additional year. An applicant must submit a written request for 
an extension of approval time 30-days prior to the expiration date of the approval.  

(5) Reapplication Required. If the approval period lapses, the applicant must resubmit 
the proposal, including all applicable fees and the applicant will be subject to all 
applicable standards currently in effect.  

 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   33 | P a g e  
 

Article 7 APPLICATION AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 
 
Sections 
7.010 Procedure for Type I Action. 
7.020 Procedure for Type II Action. 
7.030  Procedure for Appeals. 
7.040 Conditions of Approval – Type I and Type II Applications. 
7.050 Applicability to Expedited Land Divisions and Middle Housing Land Divisions. 
 
7.010 Procedure for Type I Action. 
 
(A) Decision Authority. Applications subject to a Type I review shall be reviewed and decided 

by the City Manager. 
 
(B) Application. Upon receipt of an application for Type I land use action, the City shall review 

the application for completeness. 
1. If determined to be complete, the 120-day time period shall begin.  
2. If determined to be incomplete, the applicant shall be notified and provided an 

additional 30 days to submit the necessary supplemental information. 
3. An applicant may request additional time to submit the requested information. The 

City will not process the application if an applicant fails to submit the information 
within 180 days, and the applicant shall forfeit all applications fees. 

 
(C) Completeness. The application shall be deemed complete for the purposes of scheduling 

and all related timing provisions either: 
1. Upon receipt of the requested acceptable additional information; or refusal by the 

applicant to submit the requested information; 
2. On the 31st day after the original application submittal.  

 
(D) Decision. The City Manager shall review the application and shall render a decision based 

on an evaluation of the proposal and on applicable clear and objective standards 
contained in this Ordinance. Notice of the decision shall only be sent to the applicant(s). 
 

(E) Appeals. A Type I land use decision may be appealed to the Planning Commission. The 
appeal shall be submitted within 14 days of the date the decision is mailed. The appeal 
process shall follow the procedures in Section 7.030.   

 
7.020 Procedure for Type II Action. 
 
(A) Decision Authority. Applications subject to a Type II procedure shall be reviewed and 

decided by the City Manager.  
 
(B) Application. Upon receipt of an application for Type II land use action, the City staff shall 

review the application for completeness. 
1. If determined to be complete, the 120-day time period shall begin.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   34 | P a g e  
 

2. If determined to be incomplete, the applicant shall be notified and provided an 
additional 30 days to submit the necessary supplemental information.  

3. An applicant may request additional time to submit supplemental information up to 
180-days from submittal date of the application. The City will not process the 
application if an applicant fails to submit the information within 180 days, and the 
applicant shall forfeit all applications fees.  

 
(C) Completeness. The application shall be deemed complete for the purposes of scheduling 

and all related timing provisions either: 
1. Upon receipt of the requested acceptable additional information; or refusal by the 

applicant to submit the requested information; 
2. On the 31st day after the original application submittal.  
 

(D) Hearing Option. The applicant has the option to request a public hearing before the 
Planning Commission. The procedures for notice and conducting the public hearing shall 
comply with the standards in Ordinance 95-4, Article 10.  

 
(E) Application Notice. Before making a Type II decision, the City shall mail notice of the 

application to: 
1. All owners of record of real property within 100-feet of the subject site for a partition 

and 300-feet for a subdivision.  
2. Any person who submits a written request to receive a notice.  
3. Any governmental agency that is entitled to notice under an intergovernmental 

agreement or required by State statute.  
4. The road authority when there is a proposed development abutting or affecting 

their transportation facility and allow the agency to review, comment on, and 
suggest conditions of decision for the application. 

5. The City may notify other affected agencies, as appropriate, for review of the 
application. 

 
(F) Notice Information. The notice of a pending Type II decision in item (E) above shall include 

the following:  
1. Identify the applicant, specific land use decisions or decisions requested. 
2. Describe the street address or other easily understandable reference to the 

location of the site. 
3. List the relevant decision criteria by name and number of Ordinance sections. 
4. Provide a 14-day period for submitting written comments before a decision is made 

on the land use application. The City shall only accept written comments either by 
letter or e-mail.  

5. State the place, date, and time the comments are due, and the person to whom 
the comments should be addressed. 

6. Include the name and telephone number of a contact person regarding the 
Administrative Decision. 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   35 | P a g e  
 

7. State that if any person fails to address the relevant decision criteria with enough 
detail, they may not be able to appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals or Circuit 
Court on that issue. Only comments based on the decision criteria are considered 
relevant evidence. 

8. State that all evidence relied upon by the City to make this decision is in public 
records and available for public review. Copies of this evidence can be obtained 
at a reasonable cost from the City.  

9. State that after the comment period closes, the City shall issue a decision. The 
decision shall be mailed to the applicant and to anyone who submitted written 
comments or who is otherwise legally entitled to notice. 

 
(G) Decision. The City Manager shall review the application and shall render a decision based 

on an evaluation of the proposal and on applicable criteria contained in this Ordinance. 
Further, the written decision shall address relevant comments submitted by the parties 
noticed.  

 
(H) Notice of Decision. Within five working days after the City’s written decision, a Notice of 

Decision, including information on appeals, shall be sent by mail to: 
1. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers of record of the site that is the 

subject of the application. 
2. Any person who submits a written request to receive notice or provides comments 

during the application review period.  
3. Any governmental agency entitled to notice under an intergovernmental 

agreement, and other agencies that provided comments during the application 
review period.  

 
(I) Appeals. Except as modified by provisions in Article 8, anyone receiving notice of a Type 

II land use decision may the decision to the Planning Commission. The appeal shall be 
submitted within 14 days of the date the decision is mailed. The appeal process shall 
follow the procedures in Section 7.030.   

 
7.030 Procedure for Appeals. 
 
(A) Commission Hearing and Notice of Appeal. If a Type I or Type II decision is appealed, 

City staff shall schedule a hearing before the Planning Commission. The Commission 
hearing shall comply with procedures set forth in Ordinance 95-4, Article 10. Written 
notice of a public hearing on the appeal shall be mailed only to the applicant and those 
who received notice of the original decision. This notice shall be mailed at least 10 days 
prior to the public hearing on the appeal and shall contain the information required in item 
7.020(F), above.   

 
(B) Commission Action. The Commission action on an appeal shall be in the form of a 

decision. Within 7 days of the Commission decision, the applicant and all individuals who 
participated in the public hearing, or requested notice of the decision, shall be mailed 
written Notice of the Decision. The notice shall specify the findings justifying the decision 
to approve or deny the request, any conditions of approval, and appeal procedures.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   36 | P a g e  
 

 
(C) Appeals. Land use decisions by the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City 

Council. The appeal shall be submitted within 14 days of the date the decision is mailed. 
Notice requirements shall comply with provisions in Section 7.020(F).       
 

(D) Council Hearing and Notice of Appeal. If the Commission decision on a Type II decision 
is appealed, City staff shall schedule a hearing before the City Council. The Council shall 
conduct the hearing following the procedures set forth in Ordinance 95-4, Article 10. 
Written notice of a public hearing on the appeal shall be mailed to the applicant and those 
who received notice of the Commission decision on appeal. This notice shall be mailed 
at least 10 days prior to the public hearing on the appeal and shall contain the information 
required in Section 7.020(F).  
 

(E) Notice of Council Decision. Within 7 days of the final City Council decision, the applicant 
and those who attended the hearing or requested notice, shall be mailed written notice of 
the Council decision. The notice shall specify findings justifying the approval or denial of 
the request and any applicable conditions of approval. A decision by the City Council on 
a Type II application shall serve as the City’s final decision. The decision shall be final on 
the date that notice of the decision is mailed to all parties who participated in the 
proceedings.  

 
7.040 Conditions of Approval – Type I and Type II Applications. 

 
(A) Authorization for Conditions. Approval of a Type I or Type II action may be granted subject 

to conditions. Conditions shall either ensure compliance with the standards of this 
Ordinance, or shall be designed to protect public health, safety and general welfare from 
potential adverse impacts caused by the proposed land use described in an application. 
The conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following:  
1. Establishing a special setback or other open space requirements and increasing 

the required lot size or other dimensional standards.  
2. Increasing street width and/or requiring improvements to public streets and other 

public facilities serving the proposed use, even including those off-site but 
necessary to serve the subject proposal.  

3. Designating the size, number, improvements, location and nature of vehicle 
access points and routes, and requiring pedestrian and/or bicycle ways.  

4. Requiring screening, fencing or other improvements or facilities deemed 
necessary to protect adjacent or nearby properties, and establishing requirements 
or standards for the installation and maintenance thereof.  

5. Protecting and preserving existing trees, other vegetation and water, scenic, 
historic, archaeological, unique, landmark or other natural or man-made significant 
resources.  

6. Addressing identified hazards such as flooding or geological.  
 
(B) Timing of Conditions. Whenever practical, all conditions of approval required by the City 

shall be completed prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit. When an applicant 
demonstrates that it is not practical to fulfill all conditions prior to issuance of such permit, 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   37 | P a g e  
 

the City Manager may require a performance bond or other guarantee to ensure 
compliance with zoning regulations or fulfillment of required conditions. Bonding shall 
comply with adopted City regulations and procedures. 
 

(C) Modify Conditions. A request to change or alter conditions of approval shall be processed 
as a new Type I or Type II action, as per the original request.  

 
7.050 Applicability to Expedited Land Divisions and Middle Housing Land Divisions 
Provisions in Article 7 shall not apply to Expedited Land Divisions (Article 8) and Middle Housing 
Land Divisions (Article 9). 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   38 | P a g e  
 

Article 8 EXPEDITED LAND DIVISIONS  
 
Sections: 
8.010 Applicability. 
8.020 Process. 
8.030 Submittal Requirements. 
8.040 Criteria of Approval. 
8.050 Conditions of Approval. 
8.060 Final Plat. 
8.070 Appeals. 
 
8.10 Applicability. 
 
(A) Submittal Requirements. An expedited land division may be submitted only when it 

complies with the following: 
(1) Includes only land zoned for residential use. 
(2) It is solely for the purpose of residential use, including recreational or open space 

uses accessory to residential use. 
(3) Does not provide for dwellings or accessory buildings to be located on land that is 

specifically mapped and designated in the Comprehensive Plan and land use 
regulations for full or partial protection of natural features under the statewide 
planning goals that protect open spaces, scenic and historic areas and natural 
resources.  

(4) Satisfies minimum street or other right-of-way connectivity standards established 
by Article 3 of this Ordinance.  

(5) Will result in development that either: 
(a) Creates enough lots or parcels to allow building residential units at 80 

percent or more of the maximum net density permitted by the zoning 
designation of the site; or 

(b) All dwellings will be sold or rented to households with incomes below 120 
percent of the median family income for Tillamook County. A copy of a deed 
restriction or other legal mechanism approved by the City shall be 
submitted. 
 

(B) Application. This Article may also apply to all partitions (Article 5) and subdivisions (Article 
6), provided the request is consistent with the submittal requirements in Section 8.010.   

 
(C) Land Use Decision. An expedited land division as described in this section is not a land 

use decision or a limited land use decision under ORS 197.015. 
 
8.020 Process. 
 
(A) Completeness. An application for an expedited land division is subject to the 

completeness review and 120-day rule requirements except as follows: 
(1) The timeline for the completeness check in Section 7.020(C) is twenty-one days, 

rather than thirty days. 

https://bend.municipal.codes/OR/ORS/197.015


   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   39 | P a g e  
 

(2) The notice of a final decision must be provided to the applicant within sixty-three 
(63) days of a completed application. 

 
(B) Decision. The City shall make a decision to approve or deny the application within 63 

days of receiving a completed application, based on whether the application satisfies the 
requirements in Section 8.040. Notice of the decision shall be limited to the applicant and 
shall include: 
(1) A written determination of compliance or non-compliance with the criteria of 

approval in Section 8.040.  
(2) An explanation of the right of the applicant to appeal the City’s decision to the Land 

Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 197.830 to 197.855. 
 

(C) Appeal. An appeal shall be limited to the applicant and must be based solely on one or 
more of the allegations: 
(1) The decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record;  
(2) The decision violates the substantive provisions of the applicable land use 

regulations; 
(3) The decision is outside of the authority of the decision maker; 
(4) The decision is unconstitutional; or,  
(5) The appellant’s substantive rights were substantially prejudiced by a procedural 

error. 
 
8.030 Submittal Requirements.  
An application for an expedited land division must submit the items listed in Section 6.010(C) 
and a letter or narrative report documenting compliance with the applicable approval criteria 
contained in Section 8.040 of this Article.  

 
8.040 Criteria of Approval. 
The City Manager will approve or deny an application for expedited land division within sixty-
three days of receiving a complete application, based on whether it satisfies the applicable 
criteria of approval. The City Manager may approve the land division with conditions to ensure 
the application meets the applicable land use regulations. 

 
(A) The land subject to the application is within the MH-1, MH-2, and MH-3 zones. 
 
(B) The land will be used solely for residential uses, including recreational or open space uses 

that are accessory to residential use. 
 
(C) The land division does not provide for dwellings or accessory buildings located in the 

Beaches and Dunes Overlay Zone. 
 
(D) The land division satisfies the minimum public improvement and design standards for 

development in Article 2 and Article 3.  
 
(E) The land division satisfies the following development standards contained in Ordinance 

95-4:  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   40 | P a g e  
 

(1) Applicable lot dimensional standards; 
(2) Applicable standards that regulate the physical characteristics of permitted uses, 

such as building design standards; 
(3) Applicable standards in this Ordinance for transportation, sewer, water, drainage 

and other facilities or services necessary for the proposed development, including 
but not limited to facility dimensions and on-site and off-site improvements. 
 

(F) The land division will result in development that either: 
(1) Creates enough lots to allow building residential units at 80 percent or more of the 

maximum net density permitted by the zoning designation of the site; or 
(2) Will be sold or rented to households with incomes below 120 percent of the median 

family income for Tillamook County as published annually by the Oregon 
Department of Administrative Services. 
 

8.050 Conditions of Approval. 
The City Manager may add conditions of approval of a tentative plan as necessary to comply 
with the applicable criteria of approval. Conditions may include but are not limited to the 
following: 
 
(A) A condition to prohibit the further division of the resulting lots or parcels. 
 
(B) A condition to require that a notation appear on the final plat indicating that the approval 

was given under Section 20 of House Bill 2138 (2025) as an expedited land division. 
 
(C) A condition to require recording of easements required by the tentative plan on a form 

acceptable to the City, as determined by the City Attorney. 
 

(D) Listed conditions of approval identified in Section 7.040(A). 
 
8.060 Final Plat. 
An expedited land division is subject to the final plat standards and procedures as specified in 
the applicable Article 5 (Partitions) or Article 6 (Subdivisions), except that plats may be record 
within three years of the final decision.    
 
8.070 Appeals. 
An appeal of an expedited land shall be to the Land Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 
197.830 to 197.855. 
  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   41 | P a g e  
 

Article 9 MIDDLE HOUSING LAND DIVISIONS  
Sections: 
9.010 Applicability. 
9.020 Process. 
9.030 Submittal Requirements. 
9.040 Criteria of Approval. 
9.050 Conditions of Approval. 
9.060 Final Plat. 
9.070 Appeals. 
 
9.010 Applicability. 
 
(A) Application Limitations.  

(1) A middle housing land division applies to duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, cottage 
clusters, courtyard apartments, and townhouses. 

(2) A middle housing land division may be submitted when the parent site is developed 
with middle housing, has an active building permit to construct middle housing or 
the application for a land division must be reviewed concurrently with a building 
permit application for construction of middle housing. 

 
(B) Land Use Decision. An expedited land division and middle housing land division as 

described in this section is not a land use decision or a limited land use decision under 
ORS 197.015. 

 
9.020 Process. 
 
(A) Completeness. An application is subject to the completeness review and 120-day rule 

requirements except as follows: 
(1) The timeline for the completeness check in Section 7.020(C) is twenty-one days, 

rather than thirty days. 
(2) The notice of decision must be provided to the applicant within sixty-three days of 

a completed application. 
 
(B) Decision. The City shall make a decision to approve or deny the application within 63 

days of receiving a completed application, based on whether the application satisfies the 
requirements in Section 8.040. Notice of the decision shall be limited to the applicant and 
shall include: 
(1) A written determination of compliance or non-compliance with the criteria of 

approval in Section 8.040.  
(2) An explanation of the right of the applicant to appeal the City’s decision to the Land 

Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 197.830 to 197.855. 
 

(C) Appeal. An appeal shall be limited to the applicant and must be based solely on one or 
more of the allegations: 
(1) The decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record;  

https://bend.municipal.codes/OR/ORS/197.015


   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   42 | P a g e  
 

(2) The decision violates the substantive provisions of the applicable land use 
regulations; 

(3) The decision is outside of the authority of the decision maker;  
(4) The decision is unconstitutional; or, 
(5) The appellant’s substantive rights were substantially prejudiced by a procedural 

error. 
 
9.030 Submittal Requirements. 
An application for a middle housing land division must include the following: 
 
(A) Items listed in Section 6.010(C) and a letter or narrative report documenting compliance 

with the applicable approval criteria contained in Section 9.050.   
 

(B) Remodels, additions and alterations to existing buildings and structures require evidence 
in the form of a written statement provided by a design professional licensed in the State 
of Oregon and including such professional’s stamp/seal and a site plan that demonstrates 
that all of the buildings and structures on a resulting lot or parcel comply with applicable 
building code provisions relating to the proposed property lines, and that all of the 
buildings and structures located on the lots or parcels comply with the Oregon Residential 
Specialty Code. Any structure built or building permit applied prior to application for a 
middle housing land division is considered existing for the purpose of this section. 

 
(C) A plan showing the following details: 

(1) Separate utility connections for each dwelling unit.  
(2) Existing or proposed easements for each dwelling unit.  

 
9.040 Criteria of Approval. 
The City Manager will approve a tentative plan for middle housing land division based on whether 
it satisfies the following criteria of approval: 
 
(A) The application provides for the development of middle housing in compliance with the 

Oregon residential specialty code and land use regulations applicable to the original lot 
allowed under ORS 197.758 (5). 

 
(B) Separate utilities are provided for each dwelling unit. 

 
(C) The applicant provides easements necessary for each dwelling unit on the plan for: 

(1) Locating, accessing, replacing, and servicing all utilities; 
(2) Pedestrian access from each dwelling unit to a private or public road; 
(3) Any common use areas or shared building elements;  
(4) Any dedicated driveways or parking; and 
(5) Any dedicated common area. 

 
(D) The applicant proposes exactly one dwelling unit on each resulting lot, except for lots, 

parcels or tracts used as common areas. 
 



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   43 | P a g e  
 

(E) The applicant demonstrates that buildings or structures on a resulting lot will comply with 
applicable building codes provisions relating to new property lines and, notwithstanding 
the creation of new lots, that structures or buildings located on the newly created lots will 
comply with the Oregon residential specialty code. 
 

(F) The original lot dedicated and improved the abutting street right of way sufficient to comply 
with minimum right of way and improvement standards of Article 3, or dedication and/or 
improvements of the abutting street right of way are proposed that meet the standards of 
Article 3. 

 
(G) The type of middle housing developed on the original lot shall not be altered by a middle 

housing land division. For example, cottage cluster units within a cottage cluster do not 
become single-family detached residential units after a middle housing land division. 

 
9.050 Conditions of Approval. 
The City Manager may add conditions of approval of a tentative plan as necessary to comply 
with the applicable criteria of approval. Conditions may include but are not limited to the 
following: 
 
(A) A condition to prohibit the further division of the resulting lots or parcels. 
 
(B) A condition to require that a notation appear on the final plat indicating that the approval 

was given under Section 20 House Bill 2138 (2025) as a middle housing land division. 
 
(C) A condition to require recording of easements required by the tentative plan on a form 

acceptable to the City, as determined by the City Attorney. 
 

(D) Listed conditions of approval identified in Section 7.040(A). 
 

9.060 Final Plat. 
 
(A) A middle housing subdivision is subject to the final plat standards and procedures as 

specified in the applicable Article 5 (Partitions).  
 
(B) Each middle housing lot final plat recorded with the county recorder shall states: 

(1) The middle housing lot may not be further divided. 
(2) No more than one unit of middle housing may be developed on each middle 

housing lot. 
(3) The dwelling developed on the middle housing lot is a unit of middle housing and 

is not a single family detached residential unit, or any other housing type. 
 

(C) A final plat is not required prior to issuance of building permits for middle housing proposed 
with a middle housing land division. 

 
(D) A middle housing land division tentative plan is void if and only if a final plat is not 

approved within three years of the tentative approval.  



   

Exhibit A – Ordinance 95-5 Amendments   44 | P a g e  
 

 
9.070 Appeals. 
An appeal of an shall be to the Land Use Board of Appeals, as provided in ORS 197.830 to 
197.855. 
 
 
 
 
 


	RS_5_B_Ordinance 26-1-  Land Division Ordinance - Exhibit A.pdf
	1. Goal 1 – Citizen Involvement
	2. Goal 2 – Land Use Planning
	3. Goal 10 – Housing
	Ordinance 95-5
	MANZANITA LAND DIVISION ORDINANCE
	Article 1 GENERAL INFORMATION
	1.020 Purpose.
	The purpose of this Article is to establish standards and procedures for the dividing of land in the City. These regulations are necessary to provide uniform procedures and standards for land divisions, to assure adequate width and arrangements of str...
	1.030 Applicability and Relationship to Ordinance 95-4.
	Unless otherwise exempted or specified by provisions in this Ordinance, the following shall apply:
	(A) Zones. Unless otherwise specifically prohibited by the underlying zone, land division regulations contained in Ordinance 95-5 shall apply to all zones listed in Ordinance 95-4.
	(B) Appeals. Land divisions are administrative decisions appealable to the Planning Commission. An appeal of the Planning Commission to the City Council is subject to provisions in Section 10.150 to 10.200 of Ordinance 95-4.
	(C) Variances. The Planning Commission shall review land divisions involving a variance, subject to provisions in Article 10 of Ordinance 95-4.
	(D) Amendments. The City shall follow the applicable procedures in Ordinance 95-5 to amend Ordinance 95-4.
	1.050 Scope of Regulations.
	The regulations contained in this Ordinance shall govern property boundary adjustments, partitions, subdivisions, and replats. These shall be administrative decisions and subject to procedures in Article 7 – Administration. The following shall determi...


	(A) Property Line Adjustments. Property line adjustments do not divide land but adjust boundaries between properties or consolidate property by eliminating a boundary. These are subject to the provisions in Article 4 and Type I application procedures ...
	(G) Application of Development Standards in Ordinance 95-4. Development standards in Ordinance 95-4, including compliance with overlay zone requirements, shall remain in force for all land divisions regulated by this Ordinance.
	1.080 Variances.
	Any request to vary or modify the quantitative standards in Ordinance 95-5 shall be subject to the variance provisions outlined in Ordinance 95-4, Article 8. The Planning Commission shall review land divisions involving a variance.
	1.090 Definitions.
	As used in this Ordinance, unless it is apparent from the context that it intends a different meaning, the words and phrases below shall have the following meaning. Otherwise, definitions in Ordinance 95-4, Section 1.030 apply.
	1.100 Fees.
	Article 3 STREET STANDARDS
	3.010 Street Design Standards.
	3.020 Private Streets and Easements.

	3.010 Street Design Standards
	(A) General Provisions for Public Streets.
	(B) Construction Specifications. Construction specifications for all public streets shall comply with the standards of the most recently adopted public works/street standards of the City of Manzanita.
	3.020 Private Streets, Private Easements and Shared Driveway Access.



	(D) Lots and Parcels Served by Private Streets or Easements. The following shall apply to all lots and parcels that are accessed by either a private street or private access easement:
	3.030 Improvements Required
	Article 4 PROPERTY BOUNDARY ADJUSTMENTS
	Sections:
	4.010 Adjustments Provisions.
	4.010 Adjustment Provisions.
	(A) Purpose. A property boundary adjustment is a change to a property boundary that only modifies existing lots or parcels and does not create a new lot or parcel. A property boundary adjustment is also the elimination of a property boundary line that...
	(B) Review Process. A property boundary adjustment is subject to review and decision by City staff as a Type I application (Section 7.010).
	(C) Submittal Requirements. The applicant(s) must submit the following information and material:
	(D) Review Criteria. Approval or denial of a property boundary adjustment shall be based on the following criteria:
	(E) Completion of a Property Boundary Adjustment. After approval of a property boundary adjustment, the new boundary becomes effective only after completion of the following steps:

	Article 5 PARTITIONS
	5.010 Application and Review.
	5.010 Application and Review.
	(A) Purpose. A partition is a land division that creates two or three parcels within a calendar year.
	(B) Review Process. A partition is subject to review and decision by City staff as a Type II application (Section 7.020).
	(C) Submittal Requirements. The following provisions shall apply to the submittal of a partition application:
	(3) The City Manager may waive some of the requirements in item (2) above, provided there is sufficient information to process the application.
	(D) Decision Criteria. Approval of a partitioning shall require compliance with the following:
	(A) Improvement Requirements. During the review of Partition proposals, the City shall require, as a condition of approval, the following improvements:

	(B) Improvement Procedures. In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by a developer shall conform to the requirements of this Article and improvement standards and specifications adopted by the City or affected public agency. Improvem...
	(C) Process for Final Plat Approval. The following provisions shall apply to the approval of any final partitioning plat:
	(A) Purpose. A subdivision is the process of dividing land into four or more lots within a calendar year.
	(B) Review Process. A subdivision is subject to review and decision by City staff as a Type II application (Section 7.020).
	(C) Submittal Requirements. The following submittal requirements shall apply to all preliminary plan applications for subdivisions and planned unit developments.
	(A) Improvements and Bonding. Before the City certifies approval of the final plat, the subdivider shall either install required improvements and repair existing streets and other public facilities damaged in the development of the subdivision; or exe...
	(B) Improvement Requirements. The following improvements shall apply:

	(C) Improvement Procedures. In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by a developer shall conform to the requirements of this Article and improvement standards and specifications adopted by the City, and shall be installed in accordan...



	8.020 Process.
	8.040 Criteria of Approval.
	8.050 Conditions of Approval.
	8.060 Final Plat.
	8.070 Appeals.
	8.020 Process.
	8.030 Submittal Requirements.
	An application for an expedited land division must submit the items listed in Section 6.010(C) and a letter or narrative report documenting compliance with the applicable approval criteria contained in Section 8.040 of this Article.
	8.040 Criteria of Approval.
	8.050 Conditions of Approval.
	8.060 Final Plat.
	8.070 Appeals.
	9.020 Process.
	9.040 Criteria of Approval.
	9.050 Conditions of Approval.
	9.060 Final Plat.
	9.070 Appeals.
	9.020 Process.
	9.030 Submittal Requirements.
	9.040 Criteria of Approval.
	9.050 Conditions of Approval.
	9.060 Final Plat.
	9.070 Appeals.


